Using microphone arrays and a new localization workflow to determine critical habitat and microhabitat of landbirds in a boreal forest ecosystem

by

Jeffrey P. Ethier

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Cognitive and Behavioural Ecology Program Memorial University of Newfoundland St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada

#### Abstract

Biodiversity is declining rapidly among North American landbirds. While population decreases are most evident in species at risk, steep declines in common avian species have also been observed and shown to have significant economic and ecological impacts. Basic data on distributions and habitat preferences are lacking for many species. Traditional methods used to obtain this information are limited by cost, accuracy, and human resources. Furthermore, traditional methods have a limited capacity to accurately estimate metrics such as population density and microhabitat selectively. Recently, microphone arrays have become a more affordable, portable, and capable method of obtaining this data. I deployed 110 microphone arrays in the Labrador portion of the Boreal Shield Ecozone. My objectives were to (1) demonstrate a new localization workflow using microphone arrays, (2) determine the relationships between habitat characteristics and avian community parameters, and (3) identify microhabitat features associated with two common species in steep decline, the Boreal Chickadee (*Poecile hudsonicus*) and the Cape May Warbler (*Setophaga tigrina*).

#### Acknowledgements

I acknowledge and thank my supervisor, David Wilson, for his assistance, advice, and encouragement. I have never met a more patient, understanding, and supportive individual. Additionally, I would like to thank my supervisory committee, Yolanda Wiersma and Ian Warkentin, for their feedback and support with statistical analysis.

I thank the Biology and Psychology faculty members at Memorial University for their advice and motivation, particularly Carolyn Walsh, Bill Montevecchi, Ted Miller, David Schneider, and Anne Storey.

Many additional people contributed to this project. Will Balsom provided many hours of his time to produce the localization program used throughout the thesis. Mohammad Fahmy provided excellent field assistance in 2016, but also supplied infectious energy and enthusiasm throughout the year. Arielle Przbysz helped with analyzing data and became a true friend. I thank Peter Thomas, Krista Baker, Kathy St. Laurent, and David Fishman from Environment and Climate Change Canada for advice on field sites and song identification. Thank you Marilyn Cribb, Martha MacDonald, Scott Neilsen, and Krista Oxford from the Labrador Institute for logistical support in the field. I also thank Mina Campbell, Tony Chubbs, Paul MacDonald, Frank Phillips, Ford Taylor, and Regina Wells for advice on conducting research in Labrador and within the Lake Melville Region. Lindsay Notzl at Nature Conservancy Canada and Tanya Schlossek at Forest Service of Newfoundland and Labrador helped me navigate the Nature NL Atlas and provided literature about the logging and burn history of District 19 in Labrador. Finally, my most humble "thanks" go to Bronwen Hennigar, who provided assistance with every aspect of this project. Her tireless encouragement made completing this thesis an endurable task.

Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiii
Table of Contentsv
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
List of Appendicesxi
Chapter 1: General introduction1
1.1 Status of North American landbirds1
1.2 Acoustic monitoring
1.3 Study objectives
1.4 Co-authorship Statement10
1.5 References
Chapter 2: A new method for studying avian communities using microphone
arrays and acoustic localization18
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 Signal processing workflow
2.2.1.1 Detecting vocalizations
2.2.1.2 Localizing vocalization
2.2.2 Microphone array deployment
2.2.3 Localization accuracy
2.2.4 Avian community data analysis29

## **Table of Contents**

2	2.3 Results	.30
	2.3.1 Efficiency of localization workflow	.30
	2.2.3 Localization accuracy	.31
2	2.4 Discussion	.32
2	2.5 References	.42
Chapte	er 3: The influence of the physical structure and floristics of habitat on a boreal	
	forest bird community	.46
3	3.1 Introduction	.47
3	3.2 Methods	.50
	3.2.1 Study area	.50
	3.2.2 Microphone arrays	.51
	3.2.3 General habitat characterization	.54
	3.2.4 Acoustic analysis	.55
	3.2.4.1 Detecting vocalizations	.55
	3.2.4.2 Dataset filtering	.56
	3.2.5 Statistical analysis	.58
	3.2.5.1 Avian community	.58
	3.2.5.2 Species richness	.58
	3.2.5.3 Species-specific presence	.59
	3.2.5.4 Spatial and temporal species composition	.60
3	3.3 Results	.61
	3.3.1 Avian community	.61
	3.3.2 Species richness	.62

3.3.3 Species-specific presence	63
3.3.4 Spatial and temporal species composition	64
3.4 Discussion	64
3.4.1 Avian community	65
3.4.2 Species richness	65
3.4.3 Species-specific presence	69
3.4.4 Spatial and temporal species composition	70
3.4.5 Considerations and implications	73
3.5 References	86
Chapter 4: Using microphone arrays to demonstrate microhabitat selectivity in	
two common avian species in steep decline: Boreal Chickadee and	
Cape May Warbler	93
4.1 Introduction	93
4.2 Methods	98
4.2.1 Target species	98
4.2.2 Array deployment	99
	••••••
4.2.3 Acoustic analysis	101
<ul><li>4.2.3 Acoustic analysis</li><li>4.2.4 Microhabitat characterization</li></ul>	101
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Acoustic analysis</li> <li>4.2.4 Microhabitat characterization</li> <li>4.2.5 Statistical analysis</li> </ul>	101 103 105
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Acoustic analysis</li> <li>4.2.4 Microhabitat characterization</li> <li>4.2.5 Statistical analysis</li> <li>4.3 Results</li> </ul>	101 103 105 106
<ul> <li>4.2.3 Acoustic analysis</li> <li>4.2.4 Microhabitat characterization</li> <li>4.2.5 Statistical analysis</li> <li>4.3 Results</li> <li>4.4 Discussion</li> </ul>	101 103 105 106 107

Chapter 5: Concluding discussion	122
5.1 Microphone arrays and acoustic monitoring	122
5.2 Avian conservation, habitat relationships, and microhabitat selection	123
5.3 Scope and limitations	125
5.4 Conclusion	126
5.5 References	127

## List of Tables

Table 2.1	Results of the ground truth experiment
Table 3.1	Summary of the general linear model of avian species richness
	regressed against mean daily temperature and Julian date76
Table 3.2	Species presence and temporal species similarity77
Table 3.3	Regression coefficients and pseudo $R^2$ of logistic regression models
	comparing presence/absence versus habitat characteristics79
Table 3.4	The number of array locations from each forest type
Table 3.5	Contingency tables showing the observed number (and expected
	number) of locations where a given species was present/absent across
	three forest types
Table 3.6	The number of shared and unshared avian species and corresponding
	Sorensen's index
Table 4.1	The number of Boreal Chickadee call perches and Cape May Warbler
	song perches within each microphone array109

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1	The model SM3 audio recorder
Figure 2.2	The external microphone was extended
Figure 2.3	The survey-grade Geo7X GNSS
Figure 2.4	The accuracy of broadcasted sounds that were localized
Figure 3.1	Map of 110 sites near North West River (NWR) and
	Happy-Valley-Goose Bay (HVGB), Labrador73
Figure 3.2	The proportion of sites where bird species were present74
Figure 3.3	Avian species richness by forest type75
Figure 4.1	Spectrograms of the vocalizations used to localize Boreal Chickadee
	and Cape May Warbler110
Figure 4.2	Diagnostic plots of 3 microhabitat variables associated with call and
	song perch sites used by Boreal Chickadees and Cape May Warblers 111
Figure 4.3	Pair-wise comparisons of the microhabitat of call perch sites and
	randomly determined control sites for Boreal Chickadee112
Figure 4.4	Pair-wise comparisons of the microhabitat of song perch sites and
	randomly determined control sites for Cape May Warbler113

# List of Appendices

Appendix 1	Birds of Newfoundland and Labrador that are currently listed as	
	species at risk according to Newfoundland and Labrador Fisheries	
	and Land Resources	.127
Appendix 2	Bird species encountered in this study, including scientific name,	
	common name, and 4-letter alpha codes	.128

#### **CHAPTER 1: General introduction**

#### 1.1 Status of North American Landbirds

Biodiversity among North American landbirds has declined significantly in the last 40 years (§ekercioğlu et al. 2004; Berlanga et al. 2010; Downes et al. 2011). Partners in Flight, a tri-national North American initiative for the conservation of birds, states that 86 of the 448 species assessed are at high risk of becoming extinct, with 22 species expected to lose 50% of their current population in the next 40 years (Rosenberg et al. 2016). Additionally, the abundance of landbirds in North America has declined by approximately 1.5 billion individuals (or 9%) since 1970 (Rosenberg et al. 2016). For example, 35% of the 450 bird species that are found in Canada have declined in number by at least 25% since the 1970s (Government of Canada 2014), and 46 of the 269 landbird species that breed in Canada have declined by more than 50% in number (Berlanga et al. 2010; Downes et al. 2011). Currently, the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada has designated 58 landbird species as being at risk under the categories of endangered, threatened, or special concern (COSEWIC 2018).

These declines in abundance are attributed to a number of factors. Partners in Flight lists several large-scale threats to bird populations, including urbanization, tropical deforestation, climate change, agricultural land conversion, and energy and resource extraction (Rosenberg et al. 2016). For example, although North American forest cover has remained stable over the last 20 years (Keenan et al. 2015), a long-term study using high-resolution satellite imagery found that there was a global net loss of 1.5 million km<sup>2</sup>

of forest from 2000 to 2012 (Hansen et al. 2013). Across the tropics, 2101 km<sup>2</sup>/year were lost during this period, with half of this loss occurring in the rainforests of South America (Hansen et al. 2013). The latter region is of particular importance to Partners in Flight because approximately 30% of the species on the initiatives' "watch list" and list of "common species in steep decline" are migratory species that breed in Canada and/or the United States, but that rely on South American forests during the boreal winter (Rosenberg et al. 2016). The watch list identifies the species that are at the highest risk of extinction in North America and of the greatest conservation concern at the continental scale. The list of common species in steep decline includes species that are still abundant, but that have experienced long-term declines in number (Rosenberg et al. 2016).

Habitat change and habitat loss are also widespread on the avian breeding grounds in Canada. The boreal forest is rapidly changing in North America and Eurasia (Bradshaw et al. 2009; Gauthier et al. 2015). The boreal forest is a key resource for the Canadian economy because paper and lumber are among the largest national exports. They are linked to the annual harvest of approximately 780,000 ha of the 347 million ha of total forested area in Canada (Gauthier et al. 2015; NRCan 2017). Between 2015 and 2016, a further 34,000 ha (< 0.1%) of forest was converted to another land type (*e.g.*, agricultural land) and 19 million ha (5.0%) were lost due to insects, fire, and disease (NRCan 2017). Within the Boreal Plains ecozone, approximately 75% of forested habitat has been converted to agricultural land since the 1900s (Hobson and Bayne 2000). Given that approximately 60% of Canada's landbirds and 50% of North American warbler species breed within the boreal forest of Canada (Downes et al. 2011), it is clear that the boreal forest is of critical importance for maintaining the survival and reproduction of landbird populations.

The loss of landbird resident and migrant species (Şekercioğlu et al. 2004; Berlanga et al. 2010; Downes et al. 2011) has substantial ecological and economic impacts. For example, landbirds save the Canadian forestry industry an estimated \$5.4 billion per year by consuming pests (Mols and Visser 2002; Classen et al. 2014; Wells et al. 2014). Birds also facilitate ecosystem processes (Whelan et al. 2008; Sekercioğlu et al. 2016), such as seed dispersal (Şekercioğlu et al. 2004; Garcia et al. 2010; Garcia and Martinez 2012), pollination (Anderson et al., 2006), and nutrient decomposition (De Vault et al. 2003). Similarly, they are the foundation for recreational activities, with 4.8 million Canadians having spent \$537 million on birding in 2012 alone (FPTGC 2014). Conserving landbirds is therefore important for our ecosystems and our economy. They also have significant cultural and symbolic importance, and are often central figures in heraldry, religion, and mythology (Cocker and Tipling 2013).

Legislation, such as Canada's *Species at Risk Act* (S.C. 2002, c. 29), provides a framework for conserving landbirds. Yet implementing recovery strategies is often hindered by an inability to identify critical habitat and distribution patterns for individual species. Currently, there are several techniques researchers can use to obtain this information. The most common method has been the point count technique, in which individual birds are included in counts if they are seen or heard (Blumstein et al. 2011; Mennill et al. 2012; Venier et al. 2012). Despite its widespread use, however, point

counts are subject to several biases (Digby et al. 2013; Klingbeil and Willig 2015). For example, the ability to detect and classify vocalizations *in situ* varies widely with observer skill (Hobson et al. 2002; Hutto and Stutzman 2009). It is also often not possible to know how far away a detected bird is, or whether the same individual or multiple individuals are being detected. Furthermore, point counts are typically only 5-10 min in length, and are often conducted only during the early morning when birds are most active. Consequently, point counts often fail to detect less common or less vocal species (Hobson et al. 2002; Bas et al. 2008). The reliability of detecting vocalizations at a given distance also varies among species, populations, vocalization types, habitat types, and weather conditions (Johnson 2008; Yip et al. 2017).

In an attempt to address some of these limitations, several variations of the traditional point count method have been developed. For example, distance sampling (Buckland et al. 2001), double-observed surveys (Nichols et al. 2000), MacKinnon lists (MacKinnon and Phillips 1993), spot mapping (Schwab et al. 2006), and removal surveys (Farnsworth et al. 2002) incorporate species-specific detection probabilities to estimate density and abundance. Forcey et al. (2006) sampled across 6 different habitats and found considerable variation in detection probability (59.8% to 84.2%) using a double-observer method. O'Dea et al. (2002) compared the MacKinnon list method to traditional point counts and found that both methods had equivalent estimates of species richness, but that MacKinnon lists overestimated species abundance, lacked a sampling protocol, and required considerably more time for both field collection and data entry. Furthermore, all five of these methods rely on several indirect assumptions. For example, they assume that

individuals are not double-counted during surveys, that individuals are accurately assigned to being within or outside a set survey boundary, and that the observer does not affect the distribution of individuals (Murray et al. 2011; Reidy et al. 2011). Yet, these assumptions are often violated or untested (Murray et al. 2011; Reidy et al. 2011). For example, the presence of human observers has been shown to affect the natural behaviour and habitat choice of birds (Mech and Barber 2002; Lee and Marsden 2008).

#### **1.2 Acoustic Monitoring**

Acoustic monitoring, which is based on audio recorders placed in the environment to passively record species-specific sounds, is a new technique that overcomes many of the limitations of point counts (Blumstein et al. 2011; Mennill et al. 2012). Virtually all landbirds regularly produce species-specific vocalizations, especially during the breeding season, and, therefore, monitoring these vocalizations can be a reliable way of determining whether a particular species is present at a given location. Unlike humans, recorders are ideal for detecting rare species because they can operate continuously for long periods of time, at night, and at multiple locations simultaneously (Hutto and Stutzman 2009; Klingbeil and Willig 2015).

In addition to determining species presence, audio recording units can be used as part of a microphone array to localize vocalizing animals in 2-dimensional or 3dimensional space (Blumstein et al. 2011). This can allow researchers to distinguish among spatially separated individuals (*e.g.*, those living in adjacent territories), and to identify and characterize preferred microhabitats, such as singing posts and nesting sites. This allows researchers to study microhabitat use in the absence of obscuring or confounding observer effects. Additionally, birds are known to vocalize at species-specific rates (Emlen 1972). By calculating the area over which vocalizations are detected, vocalization density can be calculated and used as a proxy for population density (Marques et al. 2013). This information can be incorporated into population monitoring protocols, which is useful for developing conservation decisions about land management.

Localization requires multiple microphones to be distributed throughout the environment at a high enough density that vocalizations from target species are detected at three or more microphone locations. Because sound travels at a constant and predictable speed, it will arrive at each microphone at a slightly different time. These time-of-arrival differences among microphones can be measured from audio recordings using various techniques, such as spectrogram or waveform cross-correlation, and trilateralization can then be used to calculate the origin of the sound in 2-dimensional or 3-dimensional space (Wilson et al. 2014).

There are several factors that affect detection and localization accuracy of sound in a microphone array. Detection and localization accuracy are significantly better when the total number of microphones and microphone density are higher (Patricelli and Krakauer 2010; Mennill et al. 2006; Mennill et al. 2012), when signals are produced within the area bound by the array (McGregor et al. 1997; Bower and Clark 2005), when signals are produced in open versus densely foliated habitat (McGregor et al. 1997;

Mennill et al. 2012), and when signals contain frequency modulation (McGregor et al. 1997). Therefore, the detection capability and accuracy of microphone arrays can vary according to array configuration, habitat, and target species.

Despite these limitations, previous studies and reviews have indicated that microphone arrays are an effective tool for surveying wildlife populations (Blumstein et al. 2011; Shonfield and Bayne 2017), though there are still several challenges remaining. First, a reliable and automated method for species recognition has yet to be developed (Blumestein et al. 2011). Software programs exist, but are often not commercially available or have been developed for particular taxa and cannot be applied to data that contain several types of vocalizations from multiple taxa. Second, there is currently no framework or workflow that is capable of processing large volumes of audio recordings efficiently. Existing procedures involve one or more manual steps, such as processing each vocalization individually to determine time-of-arrival differences (*e.g.*, Sound Finder, Wilson et al. 2014). Manual steps in the processing of individual vocalizations limits the number of localizations that can be processed in a single study to a few hundred or, possibly, a few thousand.

In this study, I used the cable-free microphone array technology described by Mennill et al. (2012) to assess habitat and microhabitat use of landbirds at a local scale in central Labrador, Canada, regardless of their current population or conservation status. I conducted the study in Labrador because 15 of its 102 native species are at risk (Mactavish et al. 2016; NLFLR 2017; Appendix 1). Within the Boreal Shield Ecozone in Labrador, there have been significant declines in bird species that occupy open and shrub/early successional habitats, including those listed as "not at risk" (Downes et al. 2011). The Labrador portion of the Boreal Shield Ecozone is also under-represented in national bird surveys (Downes et al. 2011). The majority of surveys in this ecozone were conducted in southern Ontario and Quebec, with poor coverage outside of these regions (Downes et al. 2011). Finally, Labrador is subject to intense development. In particular, logging, hydroelectric power generation (*e.g.*, the Lower Churchill Project), and mining are significant sources of human disturbance (Roberts et al. 2006). Therefore, studies on the avian communities in this region, and subsequent monitoring of these communities, are important for understanding the impact of these disturbances. The study area I sampled included 88 sites across the 2016 and 2017 avian breeding seasons, and encompassed a 50 x 50 km area in Labrador that was south of Grand Lake, north of the Churchill River, and west of Goose Bay and Lake Melville.

#### **1.3 Study Objectives**

The first objective, detailed in the second chapter, was to determine whether or not microphone arrays are a practical tool for characterizing avian communities. I introduce and explain the methodology of a new, automated localization workflow that is capable of processing millions of vocalizations from thousands of hours of recordings. I test the accuracy of this workflow using speaker playbacks broadcasted from known locations to determine if this localization procedure is as accurate as previous procedures that required manual oversight. Included in the chapter are the number of vocalizations recorded, the amount of time required to detect, identify, and localize the vocalizations, and the accuracy of localization.

The second objective, detailed in the third chapter, was to determine the relationships between habitat characteristics and avian community parameters (*i.e.* species richness, composition, and the presence/absence of individual species). I also compared my results to those observed previously in other locations across North America. Changes in avian community parameters are influenced by several habitat characteristics, such as mean tree height, stem density, canopy cover (MacArthur and MacArthur 1961; MacArthur et al. 1962; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; McElhinny et al. 2005; Lemaître et al. 2012), and vegetative species richness (Lee and Rotenberry 2005). I use the microphone array data to develop explanatory models that identify the habitat characteristics that are associated with avian species richness, avian species composition, and the presence/absence of each avian species across the study area. Finally, using a subset of 20 arrays that were deployed in the same locations in both 2016 and 2017, I calculated the similarity of species compositions between two consecutive breeding seasons.

The third objective, detailed in the fourth chapter, was to determine if birds vocalized selectively from particular types of song perches. The chapter focused on the microhabitat selection of Boreal Chickadee (*Poecile hudsonicus*) and Cape May Warbler (*Setophaga tigrina*), which are two common species experiencing steep population declines across their range (Rosenberg et al. 2016; Sauer et al. 2017). Using the

localization data provided by the microphone arrays, I tested whether the microhabitat characteristics of singing locations differed in structure from locations selected at random from within the same general habitat. The ability to localize singing birds over long periods of time across broad geographic regions makes this approach useful for understanding the habitat and microhabitat requirements of birds. If these species were listed under the *Species at Risk Act* (S.C. 2002, c. 29), this information would be valuable for conservation efforts because recovery documents and conservation strategies require data on critical habitat and microhabitat used during the breeding phase.

#### **1.4 Co-authorship Statement**

I conducted this research independently, but with contributions made from Dr. David Wilson, my graduate supervisor. In particular, he aided with the initial research proposal, preparation of manuscripts, and several practical aspects of the thesis (*e.g.*, equipment maintenance). I was responsible for the majority of the study design, but was in direct consultation with David Wilson. It is worth noting that I used the microphone array set-up described by Mennill et al. (2012), of which David Wilson was a co-author. I completed the data collection with the assistance of David Wilson, Bronwen Hennigar (MSc student in the Wilson lab), and Mohammad Fahmy (Honours student in the Wilson lab).

William Balsom wrote and developed the custom localization program used throughout the thesis and described in detail in chapter 2 (co-author of any manuscript derived from that chapter). I completed the data analyses and interpretation with guidance from David Wilson, and I wrote the manuscripts that constitute the chapters of this thesis (chapter 2-4). I made revisions to these manuscripts based on the recommendations of David Wilson (co-author of those manuscripts), as well as comments provided by my committee members (Dr. Ian Warkentin and Dr. Yolanda Wiersma). As the chapters of this thesis are written as manuscripts to be submitted for publication as separate entities, there is some necessary repetition of material between the general introduction and manuscript chapters.

#### References

- Anderson SH, Kelly D, Robertson AW, Ladley JJ, Innes JG. 2006. Birds as pollinators and dispersers: a case study from New Zealand. Acta Zooligica Sinica 52:112-115.
- Bas Y, Devictor V, Moussus J, Jiguet F. 2008. Accounting for weather and time-of-day parameters when analyzing count data from monitoring programs. Biodiversity Conserv. 17:3403-3416.
- Berlanga H, Kennedy JA, Rich TD, Arizmendi MC, Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Butcher GS, Couturier AR, Dayer AA, Demarest DW, Easton WE, Gustafson M, Iñigo-Elias E, Krebs EA, Panjabi AO, Rodriguez Contreras V, Rosenberg KV, Ruth JM, Santana Castellón E, Vidal RMa, Will T. 2010. Saving Our Shared Birds: Partners in Flight Tri-National Vision for Landbird Conservation. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Blumstein DT, Mennill DJ, Clemins P, Girod L, Yao K, Patricelli G, Deppe JL, Krakauer AH, Clark C, Cortopassi KA, Hanser SF, McCowan B, Ali AM, Kirschel ANG. 2011. Acoustic monitoring in terrestrial environments using microphone arrays: applications, technological considerations and prospectus. J Appl Eco. 48:758-767.
- Bower JL, Clark CW. 2005. A field test of the accuracy of a passive acoustic location system. Bioacoustics. 15:1-14.
- Bradshaw CJA, Warkentin IG, Sodhi NS. 2009. Urgent preservation of boreal carbon stocks and biodiversity. Trends Ecol Evol. 24:541-548.
- Buckland ST, Anderson DR, Burnham KP, Laake JL, Borchers DL, Thomas L. 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Classen A, Peters MK, Ferger SW, Helbig-Bonitz M, Schmack JM, Maassen G, Schleuning M, Kalko EKV, Bohning-Gaese K, Steffan-Dewenter I. 2014.
   Complementary ecosystem services provided by pest predators and pollinators increase quantity and quality of coffee yields. Proc R Soc Lond B 281:20133148.
- Cocker M, Tipling D. 2013. Birds and people. London, England: Jonathan Cape.
- COSEWIC. 2018. Committee on the Status of Wildlife in Canada Species at Risk Public Registry.

- De Vault TL, Rhodes OE Jr., Shivik JA. 2003. Scavenging by vertebrates: behavioral, ecological, and evolutionary perspectives on an important energy transfer pathway in terrestrial ecosystems. Oikos 102:225-234.
- Digby A, Towsey M, Bell BD, Teal PD. 2013. A practical comparison of manual and autonomous methods for acoustic monitoring. Methods Ecol Evol. 4:675-683.
- Downes C, Blancher P, Collins B. 2011. Landbird trends in Canada, 1968-2006. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Technical Thematic Report No. 12. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Emlen ST 1972. An experimental analysis of the parameters of bird song eliciting species recognition. Behaviour 41:130-171.
- Farnsworth GL, Pollock KH, Nichols JD, Simon TR, Hines JE, Sauer JR. 2002. A removal model for estimating detection probabilities from point-count surveys. Auk 119:414-425.
- Forcey GM, Anderson JT, Ammer FK, Whitmore RC. 2006. Comparison of two doubleobserver point-count approaches for estimating breeding bird abundance. J Wildl Manag. 70:1674-1681.
- FPTGC, Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Governments of Canada. 2014. 2012 Canadian nature survey: awareness, participation, and expenditures in naturebased recreation, conservation, and subsistence activities. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Garcia D, Martinez D. 2012. Species richness matters for quality of ecosystem services: a test using seed dispersal by frugivorous birds. Proc R Soc Lond B 279:3106-3113.
- Garcia D, Zamora R, Amico GC. 2010. Birds as supplier of seed dispersal in temperate ecosystems: conservation guidelines from real-world landscapes. Conserv Biol 24:1070-1079.
- Gauthier S, Bernier P, Kuuluvainen T, Shividenko AZ, Schepaschenko DG. 2015. Boreal forest health and global change. Forest Health 349:819-822.
- Government of Canada. 2014. Status of Birds in Canada. Retrieved from https://wildlifespecies.canada.ca/bird-status/. Accessed 1 January 2018.
- Hansen MC, Potapov PV, Moore R, Hancher M, Turubanova SA, Tyukavina A, Thau D, Stehman SV, Goetz SJ, Loveland TR, Kommareddy A, Egorov A, Chini L, Justice CO, Townshend JRG. 2013. High-resolution global maps of 21<sup>st</sup>-century forest cover change. Science 342:850-853.

- Hobson KA, Rempel RS, Greenwood H, Turnbull B, Van Wilgenburg SL. 2002. Acoustic surveys of birds using electronic recordings: new potential from an omnidirectional microphone system. Wildl Soc Bull. 30:709-720.
- Hobson KA, Bayne E. 2000. Effects of forest fragmentation by agriculture on avian communities in southern boreal mixedwoods for western Canada. Wilson Bull. 112:373-387.
- Hutto RL, Stutzman RJ. 2009. Humans versus autonomous recording units: a comparison of point-count results. J Field Ornithol. 80:387-398.
- Johnson DH. 2008. In defense of indices: the case of bird surveys. J Wildl Manag. 72:857-868.
- Keenan RJ, Reams GA, Achard F, de Freitas JV, Grainger A, Lindquist E. 2015. Dynamics of global forest area: results from the FAO global forest resources assessment 2015. For Ecol Manage. 352:9-20.
- Klingbeil BT, Willig MR. 2015. Bird biodiversity assessment in temperate forest: the value of point count versus acoustic monitoring protocols. PeerJ doi:10.7717/peerj.973.
- Lee DC, Marsden SJ. 2008. Adjusting count period strategies to improve the accuracy of forest bird abundance estimates from point transect distance sampling surveys. Ibis 150:315-325.
- Lee P, Rotenberry J. 2005. Relationships between bird species and tree species assemblages in forested habitats of eastern North America. J Biogeogr. 32:1139-1150.
- Lemaître J, Darveau M, Zhao Q, Fortin D. 2012. Multiscale assessment of the influence of habitat structure and composition on bird assemblages in boreal forest. Biodiversity Conserv. 21:3355-3368.
- MacArthur RH, MacArthur JW. 1961. On bird species diversity. Ecology 42:594-598.
- MacArthur RH, MacArthur JW, Preer J. 1962. On bird species diversity. II. Prediction of bird census from habitat measurements. Am Nat. 96:167-174.
- MacKinnon S, Phillips K. 1993. A field guide to the birds of Borneo, Sumatra, Java and Bali. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Mactavish B, Clarke J, Wells J, Buckley A, Fifield D. 2016. Checklist of the birds of insular NL and its continental shelf waters. The Natural History Society of NL, Inc.

- Marques TA, Thomas L, Martin SW, Mellinger DK, Ward JA, Moretti DJ, Harris D, Tyack PL. 2013. Estimating animal population density using passive acoustics. Biol Rev. 88:287-309.
- McElhinny C, Gibbons P, Brack C, Bauhus J. 2005. Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: its definition and measurement. Forest Ecol Manag. 218: 1-24.
- McGregor PK, Dabelsteen T, Clark CW, Bower JL, Tavares JP, Holland J. 1997. Accuracy of a passive acoustic location system: empirical studies in terrestrial habitats. Ethol Ecol Evol. 9:269-286.
- Mech LD, Barber SM. 2002. A critique of wildlife radio-tracking and its use in national parks: a report to the U.S. National Park Service. Biological Resource Management Division, U.S. National Park Service, Fort Collins, CO.
- Mennill DJ, Battiston M, Wilson DR, Foote JR, Doucet SM. 2012. Field test of an affordable, portable, wireless microphone array for spatial monitoring of animal ecology and behaviour. Methods Ecol Evol. 3:704-712.
- Mennill DJ, Burt JM, Fristrup KM, Vehrencamp SL. 2006. Accuracy of an acoustic location system for monitoring the position of duetting songbirds in tropical forest. J Acoust Soc Am. 119:2832-2839.
- Mols CMM, Visser ME. 2002. Great tits reduce caterpillar damage in apple orchards. J Appl Ecol. 39:888-899.
- Murray LD, Gates RJ, Spinola RM. 2011. Evaluation of three methods to estimate density and detectability from roadside point counts. J Wildl Manag. 75:1072-1081.
- Nichols JD, Hines JE, Sauer JR, Fallon FW, Fallon JE, Heglund PJ. 2000. A doubleobserver approach for estimating detection probability and abundance from point counts. Auk 117:293-408.
- NLFLR, Newfoundland and Labrador Fisheries and Land Resources. 2017. Birds. Retrieved from: http://www.flr.gov.nl.ca/wildlife/all\_species/birds.html. Accessed 24 November 2017.
- NRCan. 2017. The State of Canada's Forests Annual Report 2017. Natural Resources Canada.
- O'Dea N, Watson JEM, Whittaker RJ. 2004. Rapid assessment in conservation research: a critique of avifaunal assessment techniques illustrated by Ecuadorian and Madagascan case study data. Divers. Distributions 10:55-63.

- Patricelli GL, Krakauer AH. 2010. Tactical allocation of effort among multiple signals in sage grouse: an experiment with a robotic female. Behav Ecol. 21:97-106.
- Reidy JL, Thompson FR III, Bailey JW. 2011. Comparison of methods for estimating density of forest songbirds from point counts. J Wildl Manag. 75:558-568.
- Roberts BA, Simon NPP, Deering KW. 2006. The forests and woodlands of Labrador, Canada: ecology, distribution and future management. Ecol Res 21:868-880.
- Rosenberg KV, Kennedy JA, Dettmers R, Ford RP, Reynolds D, Alexander JD,
  Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Bogart RE, Butcher GS, Camfield AF, Couturier A,
  Demarest DW, Easton WE, Giocomo JJ, Keller RH, Mini AE, Panjabi AO,
  Pashley DN, Rich TD, Ruth JM, Stabins H, Stanton J, Will T. 2016. Partners in
  Flight Landbird Conservation Plan: 2016 Revision for Canada and Continental
  United States. Partners in Flight Science Committee.
- Sauer JR, Niven DK, Hines JE, Ziolkowski Jr DJ, Pardieck KL, Fallon JE, Link WA. 2017. The North American Breeding Bird Survey, Results and Analysis 1966 -2015. Version 2.07.2017 USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD.
- Schwab FE, Simon NPP, Stryde SW, Forbes GJ. 2006. Effects of postfire snag removal on breeding birds of western Labrador. J Wildl Manage. 70:1464-1469.
- Şekercioğlu CH, Daily GC, Ehrlich PR. 2004. Ecosystem consequence of bird declines. Proc Nat Acad Sci U.S.A. 101:18042-18047.
- Şekercioğlu CH, Wenny DG, Whelan CJ, editors. 2016. Why birds matter: avian ecological function and ecosystem services. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Shonfield J, Bayne EM. 2017. Autonomous recording units in avian ecology research: current use and future applications. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:14.
- Species at Risk Act, Statutes of Canada. 2002, c. 29. Retrieved from the Justice Laws website: http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/s-15.3/
- Venier LA, Holmes SB, Holborn GW, McIlwrick KA, Brown G. 2012. Evaluation of an automated recording device for monitoring forest birds. Wildl Soc Bull. 36:30-39.
- Wells J, Childs D, Reid F, Smith K, Darveau M, Courrois V. 2014. Boreal birds need half: maintaining North America's bird nursery and why it matters. Boreal Songbird Initiative, Seattle, Washington, Ducks Unlimited Inc., Memphis, TN, and Ducks Unlimited Canada, Stonewall, MB.

- Whelan CJ, Wenny DG, Marquis RJ. 2008. Ecosystem services provided by birds. Ann NY Acad Sci 1134:25-60.
- Wilson DR, Battiston M, Brzustowski J, Mennill DJ. 2014. Sound Finder: a new software approach for localizing animals recorded with a microphone array. Bioacoustics 23:99-112.
- Yip DA, Leston L, Bayne EM, Solymos P, Grover A. 2017. Experimentally derived detection distance from audio recordings and human observers enable integrated analysis of point count data. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:11.

# CHAPTER 2: A new method for studying avian communities using microphone arrays and acoustic localization

Abstract: There are several methods for obtaining information about the distribution, abundance, and habitat requirements of individual species within an avian community. However, many of these methods are limited by cost, accuracy, and human resources. Microphone arrays are an emerging technique used to obtain avian community data. Despite recent advances in hardware, such as cable-free arrays, the workflow options for processing large volumes of audio recordings and performing localization algorithms on large datasets are still lacking. In this study, I describe a new custom localization program and fully automated workflow. I then use the workflow to detect and localize songs from a largely understudied avian community from the boreal forest in Labrador, Canada. Using this new method, I was able to process, detect, and accurately localize millions of detections from thousands of hours of audio with only 325 h of processing time. This technique is easy to use, requires minimal manual inspection, and the code is free, using software that is available to most institutions and laboratories.

### **2.1 Introduction**

Identifying the presence or absence of bird species across several locations is an important first step to understanding the distribution, abundance, and habitat requirements of individual species within an avian community. There are several direct observation techniques used to survey and monitor birds, such as point counts, spot mapping, and radio telemetry, but these methods are often limited because they require highly trained

personnel whose presence on the ground has been shown to affect natural avian behaviour and habitat choice (*e.g.*, Mech and Barber 2002; Lee and Marsden 2008). Additionally, there are often limitations to the timing and duration of observations. For example, most observations are conducted during the early morning, thus excluding or otherwise underrepresenting nocturnal species and species that are most active during the day.

Acoustic monitoring involves the use of one or more passive acoustic recording units that are used in place of a human observer. This technology mitigates several biases associated with other monitoring methods. In particular, point counts are associated with observer bias because the ability to detect and classify vocalizations in situ varies with observer skill (Hobson et al. 2002; Hutto and Stutzman 2009). Acoustic recording units provide permanent archives of recordings that can be inspected repeatedly to confirm species identity. Acoustic recording units have also been shown to be more robust than human-observer methods to variations in vocalizations of individual species, habitat type, and weather, which obscure aural detection and species identification (Hobson et al. 2002; Blumstein et al. 2011).

Microphone arrays are an emerging technique in which three or more passive acoustic recording units are synchronized and dispersed in an animal's environment. This technique has been used to study the vocal and spatial behaviour of several taxa (Mennill and Vehrencamp 2008; Krakauer et al. 2009; Bates et al. 2010; Harris et al. 2016) and to survey bird species abundance, richness, and composition (Hobson et al. 2002; Acevedo and Villanueva-Rivera 2006; Celis-Murillo et al., 2009, 2012). The primary advantage of

using a microphone array over point count method is the ability to localize individual vocalizations in space (Blumstein et al. 2011). Since sound travels at a predictable rate through the air, the time required for an acoustic signal produced by an animal to reach each microphone in the array will differ slightly. It is therefore possible to determine the location of the signal using the time-of-arrival differences among the microphones in the array. There are several approaches for determining time-of-arrival differences, including spectrogram and waveform cross-correlation. Trilateralization algorithms can then be applied to the time-of-arrival differences to calculate the spatial origin of the signal (Wilson et al. 2014). With localization, the sampling area can be standardized and set to a small enough area that all vocalizations produced within it are detected. This, in theory, mitigates the effects of habitat, weather, species, and bird behaviour on the probability of detection and inclusion in the sample. Additionally, since the array is spatially explicit, and since birds tend to vocalize at species-specific rates, it is possible to calculate song density, which is the number of songs per unit of area per unit time (Stevenson et al. 2015). Song density should correlate with animal densities, and, so, can be used as a consistent and reliable metric to be compared among sites, regions, years, and studies (Stevenson et al. 2015).

A significant challenge to using microphone arrays is that the recordings from each microphone must be synchronized. If they are not, the time-of-arrival differences and the localizations derived from them will be inaccurate. The traditional method of synchronizing a microphone array was to connect the microphones to a central recording device via long cables (Mennill et al. 2012). Deploying these arrays took large teams of

researchers multiple days to set up (*e.g.* Fitzsimmons et al. 2008, Mennill and Vehrencamp 2008). The transportation and deployment time of these systems limited the number of arrays that could be established in a single study and often did not allow for arrays to be treated as the unit of replication (Mennill et al. 2012).

During the last decade, cable-free microphone arrays have been developed for studying species in terrestrial communities (Ali et al. 2009; Thompson et al. 2009; Collier et al. 2010; Blumstein et al. 2011; Mennill et al. 2012; Stevenson et al. 2015). These arrays comprise commercially available recorders that synchronize with each other using self-generated radio signals (Burt and Vehrencamp 2005) or a common GPS time source (*e.g.*, Mennill et al. 2012). Because these systems are cable-free, they can be deployed in the field more easily and more quickly than their cable-based counterparts. For example, Mennill et al. (2012) were able to fit an entire 8-microphone cable-free array into a single backpack, and to set it up in the field, covering an area of approximately 0.25 ha, in under 1 h.

Despite these advances in hardware, software options for detecting and localizing signals from large volumes of recordings are lacking. Software programs exist for isolating vocalizations/sounds, assigning species labels to the vocalizations, and then performing spectrogram or waveform cross-correlation. Examples include ISHMAEL, which was developed by the Cooperative Institute for Marine Resources Studies (CIMRS) bioacoustics lab at Oregon State University (Mellinger et al. 2017), XBAT, which was developed by the Cornell Lab of Ornithology (Mills and Figueroa 2005), and

Sound Finder, which was developed by Wilson et al. (2014). However, these software programs often require one or more manual steps, such as building species-specific recognizers for detecting vocalizations or processing each vocalization individually to determine time-of-arrival differences prior to localization. Additionally, no software of which I am aware is able to process large volumes of audio data efficiently. For example, ISHMAEL requires approximately 1 h to process 1 h of audio recordings. As a result, most studies involving the technology have been proof-of-concept studies or have involved a maximum of a few hundred detections, which significantly reduces the temporal and/or spatial coverage of such studies (Bower and Clark 2005; Mennill et al. 2012; Spillman et al. 2015; Stepanian et al. 2016).

To alleviate the deficiencies of previous software, my objectives in this study were to (1) develop a workflow that can automatically detect and localize animal sounds recorded with a microphone array; (2) show that the workflow can handle large datasets (*i.e.*, thousands of hours of audio recordings); and (3) quantify the accuracy of localizations using a series of playbacks broadcasted from known locations. To address objectives 2 and 3, I deployed 110 microphone arrays in forest stands of eastern Labrador, Canada.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Signal processing workflow

The software and workflow used for processing vocalizations involves three steps: detection, identification, and localization. The first two steps utilize *Kaleidoscope* 

software (Version 4.3.2, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA). The third step is accomplished using a custom program written in MATLAB (Version 6.1, The MathWorks, Natick, MA).

#### 2.2.1.1 Detecting vocalizations

*Kaleidoscope* software automatically detects vocalizations from a collection of long audio recordings. The vocalizations can be comprised of "phrases" that contain "syllables" (Catchpole and Slater 2008) that are above the threshold of background noise and within a user-defined minimum and maximum frequency range and duration. The background noise is determined by an algorithm that estimates the ambient level of background energy through a rolling average of power levels going back in time by the user-specified maximum duration of potential signals. *Kaleidoscope* generates a detection list text file with one row for each detection and columns describing the structure of the detection (minimum, maximum, and mean frequency) and its position within the raw recording (time of onset and duration).

*Kaleidoscope* uses a cluster analysis to group together detections with similar acoustic structure. The program calculates the distance of each detection to the centroid of the nearest cluster in multi-dimensional space. If a vocalization is within a user-defined distance from that centroid (a value between 0 and 2, where 0 excludes all detections and 2 includes all detections), then the vocalization is assigned to that cluster. The user can preview the vocalizations in clusters and rename clusters to match the species they represent.

#### 2.2.1.2 Localizing vocalizations

Vocalizations are localized automatically using a custom program written in MATLAB (SoundScope; Balsom et al., in prep). The following input files are required for localization: (1) the detection list text file produced by *Kaleidoscope*, (2) a text file listing the date and start time of each raw audio recording, (3) a text file listing which audio files were produced from the same array during the same time period, (4) the audio files containing the detections, (5) a text file containing GPS coordinates of each microphone in each array, and (6) a text file containing temperature data corresponding to the times and dates of the recordings.

Each detection is localized in two steps. First, the program identifies the channel in which the detection has the maximum signal-to-noise ratio ("reference channel"), applies a bandpass filter based on *Kaleidoscope's* determination of the minimum and maximum frequencies of the detection, and then uses pair-wise waveform crosscorrelations to measure when the signal was detected in each channel relative to when it was detected in the reference channel. The result of this step is a vector with the observed time-of-arrival differences. Second, the program produces a three-dimensional lattice, with 2-m resolution, over a simulation of the study site. The study site is defined by the most northern, eastern, western, and southern microphone coordinates, and by the minimum and maximum heights of each of the microphones. A 100-m buffer is added to each side of the simulated study site, and a 10-m buffer above and below the site. Most avian acoustic signals produced beyond this buffer could not be detected by three or more

microphones, and, so, could not be localized using this method. For each vertex in the lattice, the program calculates the time it would take for the vocalization to travel to each microphone, based on the known temperature and derived speed of sound. The vertex that minimizes the difference between the observed and theoretical time-of-arrival differences is selected by the program as the most likely origin of the vocalization. This process is then repeated 100 times, with a new smaller study area centred on the estimated origin of the vocalization from the previous iteration (dimensions equal to the spatial resolution of the previous iteration), and a progressively finer lattice resolution. For each vocalization, the program produces a unitless error value, which is the sum of absolute differences between the theoretical time-of-arrival differences of the final estimated origin and the original observed time-of-arrival differences (hereon in, "localization error value"). This error term is not a direct measure of geographic error, but, rather, a measure of model fit. As there are multiple factors that influence localization, it is possible for a vocalization to be localized to its true spatial origin with perfect accuracy, but to still have a high localization error value.

#### 2.2.2 Microphone array deployment

In order to test the accuracy of the workflow and its ability to handle large data, I deployed microphone arrays at 110 sites in Labrador, Canada during the 2016 and 2017 avian breeding seasons. The sites were distributed across a 50 x 50 km area of Labrador that is south of Grand Lake, north of the Churchill River, and west of Goose Bay and Lake Melville (central UTM: 20U 666550 m E, 5921190 m N; Chapter 3, Figure 3.1). During 2016 (16 May – 10 July), arrays were deployed at 68 sites. During 2017 (17 May
- 30 June), arrays were deployed at 42 sites, including 22 at new locations and 20 at locations from the previous season.

The locations of sites were selected at random, but with the constraints that they were within 1 km of road access and a minimum distance of 500 m from each other. I chose a maximum distance from road access of 1 km because hiking beyond this distance through dense forest while carrying a microphone array would have been difficult and would have reduced our sample size. I chose to separate sites by a minimum of 500 m because this reduced the risk of detecting the same birds at multiple sites (Wilson and Mennill 2011). GPS coordinates for sites were generated using a random integer set generator that creates non-repeating integers within confined boundaries (RANDOM.org). These random coordinates were then plotted on 1:50,000 scale topographic maps (National Topographic System, Series A771, Edition 4MCE, Map13 F/7 - 13 F/10) and discarded if they violated the inclusion criteria or were within a delineated swamp, bog, or water body.

Each array consisted of four audio recorders (Model SM3, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) that were placed at the corners of a 40 m X 40 m square, and which provided complete coverage of an area of approximately 0.15 ha. Field equipment consisted of 16 recorders (*i.e.*, 4 arrays) in 2016 and 8 recorders (*i.e.*, 2 arrays) in 2017. Each recorder was fitted with a Garmin SM3 GPS that was used to provide a standard GPS time source to synchronize the recorders within an array to within 1 ms of each other. Recorders were attached to trees using two drywall screws (Figure 2.1). Each

recorder had two channels: one built-in microphone (pick-up pattern: omnidirectional; frequency response: 50–20,000 Hz,  $\pm$  10 dB; Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) was positioned approximately 1 m above the ground, and a second microphone (model: SMM-A2; pick-up pattern: omnidirectional; frequency response: 50–20,000 Hz,  $\pm$  10 dB) was positioned in the canopy approximately 2 to 3 m above the first using an extendable painter's pole with a hook at the end (Figure 2.2). A wire hook attached to the external microphone was hooked over a tree branch to fasten the microphone in place. Both microphones were oriented to point towards the middle of the array. Microphone positions were determined with a survey-grade Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS; Geo7X, Trimble, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) with 10-cm accuracy (Figure 2.3).

Each array fit into a pair of backpacks and could be set up by a team of two people. On a typical day, the research team (2 to 4 people) could take down, relocate, and set up two microphone arrays. After arriving at a target location, the average set-up time for a microphone array, including the time required to position the microphones, was less than 1 h. After setting up an array, each recorder was programmed to record continuously until stopped, and to create a new stereo sound file every 2 h throughout this time (WAVE format, 24 kHz sampling rate, 16-bit amplitude encoding). All arrays were left recording for a minimum of 24 h, beginning 2 h after the initial setup to minimize disturbance effects associated with setup. During periods of heavy rain, the arrays were left in place for at least one day after the rain had stopped.

#### 2.2.3 Localization accuracy

To determine the localization accuracy of the microphone arrays, I performed speaker playbacks at 8 microphone arrays. A tonal frequency up-sweep stimulus (200 ms in length, increasing logarithmically from 0.5 to 2.5 kHz) was played 9 to 15 times from a 12.7-cm loudspeaker (5 watts, Model No 7-100, Pignose Ind., Las Vegas, NV, USA) placed facing upwards in the approximate centre of the array. The amplitude of the stimulus was 90 dB sound pressure level, as measured at 1 m from the speaker with a sound level meter (c-weighing, fast-response). The position of the loudspeaker was recorded using the Trimble Geo 7x GNSS. These coordinates were used as the "true" location of the sound. The stimuli were localized in MATLAB to obtain estimates of the location using the procedure described above (section 2.2.1.2).

Although the localization program is capable of producing location estimates in three-dimensional space, we found an unexpectedly high amount of localization error in the vertical z-dimension. Error values were significantly reduced and location estimates were more accurate when localizing sounds in two-dimensional space. Location estimates were, on average, 4.00 m (±9.32 m, standard deviation) farther from the true location when localized in three-dimensional space. Therefore, localization accuracy was defined as the two-dimensional distance between the location of the loudspeaker, as estimated by the localization program, and the location of the loudspeaker, as determined by the GNSS. Localization accuracy was compared to the localization error values produced by the localization program.

#### 2.2.4 Avian community data analysis

An initial run of the detection and clustering process was performed in *Kaleidoscope* on a subset of 14 randomly selected 2-h audio files recorded from the 2016 dataset. Recordings were analyzed using the following settings: fast Fourier transformation (FFT) window size = 256 points (5.33 ms); frequency range of potential signals = 2000-10000 Hz; duration of potential signals = 0.1-4.0 s; maximum intersyllable gap = 0.35 s. Settings used during the clustering process included: maximum distance from the cluster centre = 2.0; maximum states = 12; maximum distance to cluster centre for building clusters = 0.5; maximum clusters created = 500. This produced 36,416detections and 201 clusters. The detections within the clusters were manually inspected and 56 of these clusters were renamed to reflect the species they represented. Species identities were determined by listening to recordings of vocalizations and viewing their associated spectrograms, and then comparing these to the species accounts on the Birds of North American website (Rodewald 2015). The remaining clusters contained multiple species vocalizing and thus were not renamed, but, instead, retained the default label, as recommended by the program instructions. The cluster information stored in the metadata file was then applied to the full 2016 and 2017 datasets. This eliminated the need to manually assign detections to species.

In the full dataset (110 microphone array samples), I detected 4,879,624 vocalizations (2016 = 2,734,885; 2017 = 2,144,739) from 32 species of birds from 5862.6 h of audio. All detections were localized in MATLAB using the procedure described

above (section 2.2.1.2). The resulting dataset included several duplicated detections (same vocalization in multiple channels), detections of non-avian, non-target sounds (*e.g.*, mosquitoes, squirrels, vehicles), and detections with large localization error values.

I used the "rgeos" package (Bivand and Rundel 2017) in R (Version 3.0.1; R Core Team, Boston, MA, USA) to identify those detections contained within the bounds of the microphone array (most northern, eastern, western, and southern microphone coordinates), plus a 5-m buffer on each side of the array. Based on this, the dataset was reduced to 1,928,312 detections. I further reduced the data to include only those detections with a localization error value  $\leq 0.02$ , which corresponds to a localization accuracy of 3.55 m or better for 90% of detections (see Results). A total of 470,761 detections met this criterion. For sites that were sampled in both years, only the data from 2017 were included (with the exception of one array in 2017 which had no species present), which allowed for a relatively equal number of sampling sites in the two years (2016 = 48 sites, 2017 = 40 sites). Additionally, I removed all duplicate and non-target detections, which reduced the number of detections to 59,155. I manually reviewed the classifications of the remaining detections to confirm the species assignment was correct, though this step is not a necessary part of the basic detection/localization process.

## 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Efficiency of localization workflow

Using the final version of the analytical approach detailed above, and once sufficiently trained with the software programs, the complete signal processing workflow,

including the optional manual review of detections to confirm correct species assignment, required approximately 325 h, or 41 days (assuming an 8-h workday). Detecting vocalizations within Kaleidoscope, including the initial training step, required approximately 25 h. With a standard computer (iMac, 32 GHz Intel Core i5, 16 GB RAM) using parallel processing across 4 processors, localizing the nearly 5 million detections (0.5-2.0 s in length) required approximately 140 h. However, the localization process was fully automated and required only 5-10 min to set up. Manually inspecting the detections to confirm species identification required 160 h.

## 2.3.2 Localization accuracy

The average localization accuracy for the speaker playbacks (*i.e.*, distance between their true location and the location estimated by the localization program) was 3.08 m (n = 160 sounds). I found that 17.5% of the stimuli were localized to within 1 m of their true location, and 87.5% to within 5 m of their true location. I found that 12.5% of stimuli had a localization accuracy of at least 5 m (Figure 2.4). I was able to determine that 90% of stimuli that were localized with a localization error value of 0.02 or less were within 3.55 m of their true locations (Table 2.1). Comparing this to natural bird vocalizations recorded with my arrays, 867,970 vocalizations in 2016 (31.7% of all vocalizations recorded in 2016) and 585,576 vocalizations in 2017 (27.3%) had a localization error value of 0.02 or less.

#### **2.4 Discussion**

Multiple studies have argued that acoustic monitoring is preferred over traditional observer-based methods for monitoring avian communities because recording units detect continuously (Acevedo et al. 2009; Blumstein et al. 2011). Extending the approach to microphone arrays can yield even more insight by permitting the localization of individuals. Although hardware obstacles associated with microphone arrays have been overcome, software obstacles have not. Most studies involve only a few dozen or few hundred sounds, yet leaving multiple recorders recording for many days can yield millions of detections. I developed a system that is able to process, detect, and localize millions of detections from thousands of hours of audio in a timely fashion.

Generating location estimates for a larger number of detections can be an expensive and time-consuming process. The localization procedure used in this study employed *Kaleidoscope* and MATLAB software. Currently, the localization algorithm written in MATLAB is in the process of being translated to be able to run in R (Balsom et al., in prep). As it is presented here, though, the initial cost of these software programs may limit the accessibility of this workflow to some laboratories. *Kaleidoscope* is currently \$1500 USD and MATLAB is currently \$500 USD for an educational license, plus both products require an annual software maintenance fee. However, the main advantage of the procedure is that the vocalization detection and localization steps were fully automated and significantly reduced the time spent manually processing data. Once the input files were formatted, the custom program built in MATLAB was able to localize

each detection in approximately 400 ms, allowing for a large dataset (*ca.*, 5 million vocalizations) to be processed in approximately 6 days.

I was able to produce accurate location estimates with a high level of confidence based on sounds broadcasted from within the array (mean: 3.08 m, 95% confidence interval: 2.59-3.56 m). These results are comparable with a previous study using the same array configuration that reported an average location accuracy of 1.87 m for sounds produced within the array and 10.22 m for sound produced outside the array (Mennill et al. 2012). Other studies have had better accuracy (i.e., McGregor et al. 1997; Patricelli and Krakauer 2010), but these studies had significantly higher microphone densities and/or occurred in areas with less dense vegetation (i.e., open fields). The distribution of localization accuracies was also similar to those found in a previous study. Wilson et al. (2014) broadcasted 76 natural sounds from 5 species (3 bird and 2 frog vocalizations) from a loudspeaker in 38 different microphone arrays and used Sound Finder software to localize the sounds in two-dimensional space. They were able to localize 24% of sounds to within 1 m of the actual location and 74% of sounds to within 10 m (Wilson et al. 2014). My ground truth experiment, which involved 160 sounds broadcasted in 8 arrays, had comparable accuracy; approximately 18% of sounds were localized to within 1 m and 97% of sounds were localized to within 10 m (Figure 2.4).

There were at least four sources of potential measurement error associated with localization in this study. First, the accuracy of localization is highly dependent on the accuracy of the measured positions of each microphone in the array. The global positioning system used, while more accurate than a conventional GPS, had an average horizontal accuracy of 0.34 m, but ranged from 0.1 m to 1.2 m. However, this is a significant improvement from studies using a very similar microphone array configuration that reported an average microphone position error of greater than 1 m (*i.e.*, Mennill et al. 2006; Mennill et al. 2012; Wilson et al. 2014). Second, the position of the second (external) microphone of the acoustic recorder for each corner of the array was assumed to be directly above the first (built-in) microphone and thus occupying the same position on the horizontal plane. Deviations from this assumption likely occurred and affected the quality of localizations, as placement of the external microphone was never perfect and depended on the availability of branches. Third, the waveform crosscorrelation procedure depends on a high signal-to-noise ratio. While limited, a number of locations were situated in locations where natural noise (e.g., wind, running water, creaking trees) and anthropogenic noise (*i.e.*, vehicle traffic) were apparent in recordings. Similarly, low signal-to-noise ratios can also be present when there is more than one signal being produced at a given point in time. There were several instances when two or more birds vocalized from different locations within the array, which produced high localization error values. An alternative to waveform cross-correlation is spectrogram cross-correlation, which can better align signals recorded in noisy environments (Bower and Clark 2005; Zollinger et al. 2012). Waveform cross-correlation has superior temporal resolution when the signal can be distinguished from the background noise, while spectrogram cross-correlation is computationally more demanding and requires more time to process (Zollinger et al. 2012; Wilson et al. 2014).

There are many methods available to researchers for studying and monitoring avian communities. The utility and feasibility of each method depends on the research question being asked, the time and financial resources available, and the quality of data needed. Point counts are perhaps the most common method to determine species richness, species diversity, and the abundance of avian species (Blumstein et al. 2011; Mennill et al. 2012; Venier et al. 2012). However, acoustic monitoring provides permanent records of bird vocalizations and removes the observer effect and other biases associated with methods such as point counts. This permits researchers to use a dataset acquired from a few field seasons to address multiple research topics, such as variation in song structure, inter-year and/or inter-season variation in song production, and presence/absence patterns of individual species. Furthermore, a recent review found that acoustic recorders often performed equal to or better than point counts when estimating species richness, abundance, and composition (Shonfield and Bayne 2017). These results could be obtained with one or two acoustic recorders placed in several locations across a landscape. However, microphone arrays and localization permit researchers to answer questions that require the investigator to determine the spatial relationships among individuals or between individuals and other aspects of their environment. Examples of previous studies employing this technology include determining the distance between duetting partners in rufous-and-white wrens, Thryothorus rufalbus (Mennill et al. 2006; Mennill and Vehrencamp 2008), and the inter-individual spacing of chorusing male frogs (Bates et al. 2010). Spatial information can also be used to estimate density of individuals within the environment by calculating the area over which vocalizations are detected (*i.e.*, Dawson and Efford 2009; Marques et al. 2013). I believe that this type of research can be

incorporated into monitoring programs to better understand how individuals within a bird community utilize the structures (*e.g.*, trees, shrubs) within their environment, as well as to estimate population density.

In conclusion, I have provided a new analytical approach to accurately determine the location of individuals using acoustic localization. It is the first to be able to handle a large volume of data while maintaining comparable accuracy with other systems developed in recent years. The sound detection, species identifications, and localization procedures are almost fully automated and require minimal manual inspection. The code is free and uses software that is available to most institutions and laboratories. I also demonstrated that this workflow can be combined with recent advances in microphone array hardware (Mennill et al. 2012) to efficiently and accurately survey avian communities. Overall, the acoustic monitoring and localization methods specified here provide powerful tools for researchers to study animal behaviour and ecology.



**Figure 2.1:** The audio recorder (Model SM3, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) used for the microphone array, and the Garmin SM3 GPS (black disc above recorder) that was used to provide a standard time source to synchronize the recorders.



**Figure 2.2:** The external microphone was extended 2 to 3 m above each audio recorder using a modified hook on a painter's pole.



**Figure 2.3:** The survey-grade GNSS (Geo7X, Trimble, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) with 10cm accuracy used to determine the location of each microphone in the array.



**Figure 2.4:** The localization accuracy of broadcasted sounds that were localized using a custom MATLAB program. Localization accuracy is the difference between the location of the vocalization, as estimated by the custom MATLAB program, and the true location, as determined by the Trimble GNSS. Data are based on 160 frequency upsweeps broadcasted from within 8 microphone arrays.

**Table 2.1:** Results of the ground truthing experiment that demonstrate the relationship between localization error, as calculated by the localization program, and localization accuracy.

Localization		Localization accuracy (m)				
error value	Ν	50%	75%	90%	95%	100%
< 0.01	80	2.012	3.157	3.427	3.591	4.719
< 0.02	144	2.365	3.038	3.550	6.665	13.951
< 0.03	152	2.358	3.160	4.719	6.773	18.255
All	160	2.392	3.240	6.684	7.416	22.814

Notes: Localization accuracy is the difference between the origin of the upsweep stimulus, as estimated by the custom MATLAB localization program, and the true origin of the stimulus, as determined by the Trimble GNSS. Shown for each localization error value are five common percentiles of localization accuracy. As an example of how to interpret this table, 95% of localizations with an error value between 0 and 0.01 have a localization accuracy of 3.591 m or less, whereas 95% of localizations with a localization error value between 0 and 0.02 have a localization accuracy of 6.665 m or less.

## References

- Acevedo M, Villanueva-Rivera LJ. 2006. Using automated digital recording systems as effective tools for the monitoring of birds and amphibians. Wildlife Soc Bull. 34:211-214.
- Acevedo MA, Corrada-Bravo CJ, Corrada-Brave H, Villanueva-Rivera LJ, Aide TM. 2009. Automated classification of bird and amphibian calls using machine learning: a comparison of methods. Ecol. Inform. 4:206-214.
- Ali AM, Asgari S, Collier TC, Allen M, Girod L, Hudson RE, Yao K, Taylor CE, Blumstein DT. 2009. An empirical study of collaborative acoustic source localization. J Signal Process Syst. 57:415-436.
- Bates ME, Cropp BF, Gonchar M, Knowles J, Simmons JA, Simmons AM. 2010. Spatial location influences vocal interactions in bullfrog choruses. J Acoust Soc Am. 127:2664-2677.
- Bivand R, Rundel C. 2017. rgeos: Interface to Geometry Engine Open Source (GEOS). R package version 0.3-22.https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgeos
- Blumstein DT, Mennill DJ, Clemins P, Girod L, Yao K, Patricelli G, Deppe JL, Krakauer AH, Clark C, Cortopassi KA, Hanser SF, McCowan B, Ali AM, Kirschel ANG. 2011. Acoustic monitoring in terrestrial environments using microphone arrays: applications, technological considerations and prospectus. J Appl Ecol. 48:758-767.
- Bower JL, Clark CW. 2005. A field test of the accuracy of a passive acoustic location system. Bioacoustics. 15:1-14.
- Burt JM, Vehrencamp SL. 2005. Dawn chorus as an interactive communication network. Pages 320-343. In: McGregor PK, editor. Animal Communication Networks. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Catchpole CK, Slater PJB. 2008. Bird song: biological themes and variations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Celis-Murillo A, Deppe JL, Allen MF. 2009. Using soundscape recordings to estimate bird species abundance, richness, and composition. J Field Ornithol. 80:64-78.
- Celis-Murillo A, Deppe JL, Ward MP. 2012. Effectiveness and utility of acoustic recordings for surveying tropical birds. J Field Ornithol. 83:166-179.

- Collier TC, Kirschel ANG, Taylor CE. 2010. Acoustic localization of antbirds in a Mexican rainforest using a wireless sensor network. J Acoust Soc Am. 128:182-189.
- Dawson DK, Efford MG. 2009. Bird population density estimated from acoustic signals. J Appl Ecol. 46:1201-1209.
- Fitzsimmons LP, Foote JR, Ratcliffe LM, Mennill DJ. 2008. Eavesdropping and communication networks revealed through stereo playback and an acoustic location system. Behav Ecol. 19:824-829.
- Harris AJ, Wilson DR, Graham BA, Mennill, DJ. 2016. Estimating repertoire size in a songbird: a comparison of three techniques. Bioacoustics 25:211-224.
- Hobson KA, Rempel RS, Greenwood H, Turnbull B, Van Wilgenburg SL. 2002. Acoustic surveys of birds using electronic recordings: new potential from an omnidirectional microphone system. Wildl Soc Bull. 30:709-720.
- Hutto RL, Stutzman RJ. 2009. Humans versus autonomous recording units: a comparison of point-count results. J Field Ornithol. 80:387-398.
- Krakauer AH, Tyrell M, Lehmann K, Losin N, Goller F, Patricelli GL. 2009. Vocal and anatomical evidence for two-voiced sound production in the greater sage-grouse *Centrocercus urophasianus*. J Exp Biol. 212:3719-3727.
- Lee DC, Marsden SJ. 2008. Adjusting count period strategies to improve the accuracy of forest bird abundance estimates from point transect distance sampling surveys. Ibis 150:315-325.
- McGregor PK, Dabelsteen T, Clark CW, Bower JL, Tavares JP, Holland J. 1997. Accuracy of a passive acoustic location system: empirical studies in terrestrial habitats. Ethol Ecol Evol. 9:269-286.
- Marques TA, Thomas L, Martin SW, Mellinger DK, Ward JA, Moretti DJ, Harris D, Tyack PL. 2013. Estimating animal population density using passive acoustics. Biol Rev. 88:287-309.
- Mech LD, Barber SM. 2002. A critique of wildlife radio-tracking and its use in national parks: a report to the U.S. National Park Service. Biological Resource Management Division, U.S. National Park Service, Fort Collins, CO.
- Mellinger DK, Nieukirk SL, Heimlich SL. 2017. Ishmael 3.0 user guide. Newport, OR: Cooperative Institute for Marine Resources Studies (CIMRS), Oregon State University.

- Mennill DJ, Vehrencamp SL. 2008. Context-dependent functions of avian duets revealed through microphone array recordings and multispeaker playback. Curr Biol. 18:1314-1319.
- Mennill DJ, Battiston M, Wilson DR, Foote JR, Doucet SM. 2012. Field test of an affordable, portable, wireless microphone array for spatial monitoring of animal ecology and behaviour. Methods Ecol Evol. 3:704-712.
- Mennill DJ, Burt JM, Fristrup KM, Vehrencamp SL. 2006. Accuracy of an acoustic location system for monitoring the position of duetting songbirds in tropical forest. J Acoust Soc Am. 119:2832-2839.
- Mills HG, Figueroa HK. 2005. Extensible bioacoustical analysis software: two examples. J Acoust Soc Am. 115:2525.
- Patricelli GL, Krakauer AH. 2010. Tactical allocation of effort among multiple signals in sage grouse: an experiment with a robotic female. Behav Ecol. 21:97-106.
- Rodewald P, editor. 2015. The Birds of North America: https://birdsna.org. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology.
- Shonfield J, Bayne EM. 2017. Autonomous recording units in avian ecological research: current use and future applications. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:14.
- Spillman B, van Noordwijk MA, Willems EP, Setia TM, Wipfli U, van Schaik CP. 2015. Validation of an acoustic location system to monitor Bornean orangutan (*Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii*) long calls. Am J Primatol. 77:767-776.
- Stepanian PM, Horton KG, Hille DC, Wainwright DE, Chilson PB, Kelly JF. 2016. Extending bioacoustic monitoring of birds aloft through flight call localization with a three-dimensional microphone array. Ecol Evol. 6:7039-7046.
- Stevenson BC, Brockers DL, Altwegg R, Swift RJ, Gillespie DM, Measey GJ. 2015. General framework for animal density estimation from acoustic detections across a fixed microphone array. Methods Ecol Evol. 6:38-48.
- Thompson ME, Schwager SJ, Payne KB, Turkalo AK. 2009. Acoustic estimation of wildlife abundance: methodology for vocal mammals in forested habitats. Afr J Ecol. 48:654-661.
- Venier LA, Holmes SB, Holborn GW, McIlwrick KA, Brown G. 2012. Evaluation of an automated recording device for monitoring forest birds. Wildl Soc Bull. 36:30-39.

- Wilson DR, Battiston M, Brzustowski J, Mennill DJ. 2014. Sound Finder: a new software approach for localizing animals recorded with a microphone array. Bioacoustics 23:99-112.
- Wilson DR, Mennill DJ. 2011. Duty cycle, not signal structure, explains conspecific and heterospecific responses to calls of Black-capped Chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*). Behav Ecol. 22:784-790.
- Zollinger SA, Podos J, Nemeth E, Goller F, Brumm H. 2012. On the relationship between, and the measurement of, amplitude and frequency in birdsong. Animal Behav. 84:e1-e9.

# CHAPTER 3: The influence of the physical structure and floristics of habitat on a boreal forest bird community

Abstract: Studies conducted at regional and continental scales have found that avian richness, composition, and abundance, as well as the presence or absence of a particular species, are associated with variation in the physical structure of the vegetation and composition of vegetative species (floristics) within broad habitat types. The relative contribution of physical structure and floristics is contested, and relationships between these variables and community parameters are often species-specific. Relatively less research has been conducted at the local scale. In this study, I used 110 microphone arrays deployed during two breeding seasons to survey an avian community in a 50 x 50 km region of the boreal forest in Labrador, Canada. The three main objectives were (1) to determine the relationships between avian species richness and the physical structure and floristic composition of the habitat, (2) to determine if the relationships between the avian community and either physical structure or floristics are species-specific, and (3) to investigate the spatial and temporal patterns of the avian community composition. I found that physical structure and floristics were not related to avian species richness, though richness was associated with weather. Relationships were species-specific, with both physical structure and floristics being poor predictors of presence for the majority of species. Avian species composition was also similar among three categorical forest types identified at the study area, but different between the two consecutive breeding seasons. Collectively, these results indicate the importance of considering species individually and as a community as a whole, since different patterns emerge at different levels of analysis.

## **3.1 Introduction**

Avian community characteristics, such as species richness, species diversity, and composition are influenced by several environmental factors, including habitat characteristics, weather patterns, and species interactions. Many studies have shown that the physical structure of habitat best describes avian assemblages among broad habitat classifications (e.g., grassland, deciduous forest, coniferous forest), whereas the composition of vegetative species (*i.e.*, floristics) best describes avian assemblages within habitat classifications (Rotenberry 1985; Lee and Rotenberry 2005). However, there is evidence that both physical structure and floristics influence bird assemblages at both spatial scales and that their relative influences are species-specific, particularly in regions where habitat is relatively homogeneous (e.g., Schmiegelow and Mönkkönen 2002; Lemaître et al. 2012). Furthermore, avian assemblages are influenced by abiotic factors, such as local weather conditions. Interannual variation in bird abundance and composition among breeding seasons is driven indirectly by variation in temperature and rainfall, which affects the distribution and availability of food, resources, and shelter for birds across the landscape (Sparks et al. 2002; Sekercioğlu et al. 2012; Grima et al. 2017). It is therefore important to look not only at the relationship between habitat and avian communities, but also at how that changes over time and in relation to abiotic factors, such as weather.

Several metrics have been proposed for studying the general habitat of birds (Jones 2001; McElhinny et al. 2005). Changes in avian composition, abundance, and presence/absence patterns across a landscape have been shown to be correlated with

aspects of physical structure, including foliage height diversity, mean tree height, stem density, and canopy cover (MacArthur and MacArthur 1961; MacArthur et al. 1962; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; McElhinny et al. 2005; Lemaître et al. 2012), as well as with aspects of floristics, including the richness and diversity of vegetative species (Gillespie and Walter 2001; Poulsen 2002; Lee and Rotenberry 2005) and the densities of particular tree species (Willson and Comet 1996; Thompson et al. 1999). These relationships are often complex, and the direction of any correlation is often specific to an avian species, population, or foraging guild. The majority of these findings have been based on studies conducted at large spatial scales and across several environmental gradients throughout North America (MacArthur et al. 1962; Willson and Comet 1996; Thompson et al. 1999; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; Lamaitre et al. 2012) and Europe (Honkanen et al. 2010; Poulsen 2002). Relatively few studies have investigated if these bird-habitat relationships persist at the local or stand scale (Rotenberry 1985; Berg 1997; Seavy and Alexander 2011) and how local weather conditions might influence these relationships.

The boreal forest is an excellent region to investigate bird-habitat relationships. The Boreal Shield Ecozone in Canada is an important breeding location for more than 240 North American bird species (Blancher and Wells 2005; Downes et al. 2011). However, the majority of surveys in this ecozone have been conducted in southern Ontario and Quebec, with poor coverage outside these regions in areas such as Labrador (Downes et al. 2011). Therefore, this region provides a pertinent place to test whether relationships that might be evident based on data collected in Ontario and Quebec hold true in places such as Labrador, where forests reflect different aspects of the ecozone.

I used microphone arrays comprised of 4 synchronized recorders to study the birdhabitat relationships of the local avian community within a 50 x 50 km area in Labrador, Canada. Multiple factors, including weather, species, and an individual's behaviour, affect the range over which a species' song can be heard (Hobson et al. 2002; Blumstein et al. 2011). Therefore, using a single recorder to determine presence/absence can introduce significant error in determining whether or not a species is present. The microphone array allows researchers to standardize the sampling area by considering only those vocalizations produced within a defined area that is close enough to the microphones to ensure birds are detected. Since each bird species produces a unique vocalization, and vocalizes regularly during the breeding season, audio recordings from their environment can be a reliable method of determining which species are present (Blumstein et al. 2011). By surveying the bird species recorded within arrays, I was able to correlate species richness and presence with the physical structure and floristics of the habitat associated with those locations.

In this chapter, I had three main objectives. First, I determined the relationships between avian species richness and three environmental factors, including weather and the physical structure and floristics of the habitat. Consistent with previous studies mentioned above, I hypothesized that local species richness would be significantly correlated with changes in physical structure, floristics, and weather characteristics. Second, I investigated the patterns of the avian community composition among three categorical forest types and between two consecutive breeding seasons. Since many bird

species show site fidelity to particular breeding locations (Schlossberg 2009), I predicted that the species composition would not be significantly different between breeding seasons. Conversely, I predicted that species composition would differ among forest types, since each type differs in physical structure and floristics characteristics. Third, I determined if the relationships between the avian community and either physical structure or floristics were species-specific. Based on previous findings within the boreal forest (Seavy and Alexander 2011; Lemaître et al. 2012), and that each bird species differs in its food and shelter requirements (Johnson 1980), I hypothesized that the contributions of physical structure and floristics would vary among species. I have presented the relationships of presence/absence with physical structure and floristics characteristics for the avian community as a whole, but also for each species.

## 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Study area

The study focused on a 50 x 50 km area (centred at 666550 m E, 5921190 m N, UTM Zone 20U), with sites distributed north and west of Happy Valley – Goose Bay, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada (Figure 3.1). Houses and cottages are distributed sparsely throughout the entire area, but most of the human population is concentrated in the towns of Happy Valley-Goose Bay to the south, and North West River and Sheshatshiu to the north. The study area falls within the provincial Forest Management District 19A, which is approximately 2.27 million hectares (Forsyth et al. 2003), or approximately 0.5% of the 552 million-ha boreal forest in Canada. The area has a history of logging and other disturbances, including natural wildfire, drought, and disease. The

most recent large-scale burns occurred in 1972, 1985, and 1994 (Simon and Schwab 2005). Most notably, a large portion of the study area (approximately 34,000 ha) was burned by wildfire in 1985 (Notzl et al. 2013; Figure 3.1). During the same years, several portions of the forest were clearcut (Simon and Schwab 2005).

Forest stands in the area are dominated by black spruce (*Picea mariana*) and balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*). Other species in the upper canopy, in order of decreasing prevalence within study sites, are tamarack (*Larix laricina*), white birch (*Betula papyrifera*), heart-shape birch (*Betula cordifolia*), and trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). The woody vegetation in the understory includes speckled alder (*Alnus incana*), American mountain-ash (*Sorbus americana*), squashberry (*Viburnum edule*), willow (*Salix* spp.), serviceberry (*Amelanchier* spp.), and skunk currant (*Ribes glandulosum*). The most common ericaceous species in the understory are Labrador tea (*Rhododendron groenlandicum*), sheep laurel (*Kalmia angustifolia*), swamp laurel (*Kalmia polifolia*), and leatherleaf (*Chamaedaphne calyculata*).

## 3.2.2 Microphone arrays

Between 16 May and 10 July of the 2016 avian breeding season, I deployed eightchannel (four-recorder) microphone arrays at 68 different locations for a minimum 24 h each. During the 2017 avian breeding season, I deployed microphone arrays between 17 May and 30 June at 42 locations, including 22 new locations and 20 locations sampled during 2016 to allow for analyses of temporal species similarity. All locations that were resampled in 2017 were sampled within 3 Julian days of when they were sampled in

2016. Locations were selected at random, but with the constraints that they were within 1 km of road access and a minimum distance of 500 m from each other. I chose a maximum distance from road access of 1 km because hiking beyond this distance through dense forest while carrying a microphone array would have been difficult and would have reduced our sample size. I chose to separate sites by a minimum of 500 m because this reduced the risk of detecting the same birds at multiple sites (Wilson and Mennill 2011). GPS coordinates for locations were generated using a random integer set generator that creates non-repeating integers within confined boundaries (RANDOM.org). These random coordinates were then plotted on 1:50,000 scale topographic maps (National Topographic System, Series A771, Edition 4 MCE, Map 13 F/7 – 13 F/10) and discarded if they violated the inclusion criteria or were within a delineated swamp, bog, or water body based on provincial forest inventory maps.

Each array consisted of four digital audio recorders (Model SM3, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) that were placed at the corners of an approximately 40 m X 40 m square. Each recorder had two channels: one built-in omnidirectional microphone (frequency response: 20-20,000 Hz  $\pm 10$  dB) was positioned approximately 1 m above the ground, and a second external omnidirectional microphone (model: SMM-A2; frequency response: 20-20,000 Hz  $\pm 10$  dB) was positioned in the canopy approximately 2 to 3 m above the first. All microphones were pointed towards the centre of the array. Each recorder was programmed to record continuously and to produce a new stereo audio file for each 2 h time block (WAVE format, 24 kHz sampling rate, 16-bit amplitude

encoding). All arrays were left recording for a minimum of 24 h, beginning 2 h after setup to minimize potential disturbance effects associated with setup. At any given time, two arrays were deployed and recording during 2016, whereas one array was deployed and recording at any given time during 2017.

I recorded weather variables by placing a Kestrel 5500 portable weather station in the middle of every second array during 2016 and at every array during 2017. Arrays were always deployed in pairs within a few kilometers (1-4 km) of each other during 2016, so weather conditions should have been sufficiently similar between the sites to justify obtaining weather data from only one of them. These devices provided weather data at 20-min intervals throughout the field season, including temperature ( $\pm 0.1$  °C), wind speed ( $\pm 0.1$  km/h), relative humidity ( $\pm 0.1\%$ ), and barometric pressure ( $\pm 0.1$  mb). Temperature, in particular, affects the speed of sound and was required for the sound localization process. Wind can also affect the signal-to-noise ratio and thus the probability of detecting distant signals. However, wind speeds at microphone array locations were always low (mean = 0.75 km/h, standard deviation = 1.65 km/h, minimum = 0.00 km/h, maximum = 12.24 km/h) and thus were not considered further. Since precipitation can affect avian vocal activity and the signal-to-noise ratio on recordings, I supplemented these data with precipitation data for Happy Valley-Goose Bay, Labrador, which I obtained from the Environment and Climate Change Canada weather website. If the first 24 h of recording included more than 10 mm of rain, I left the array recording for an additional 24 h after the rainfall had decreased to below the threshold, and then used only the audio recordings from the final 24 h period in subsequent acoustic analyses.

#### 3.2.3 General habitat characterization

The general habitat was characterized at each array by assessing vegetation cover at 5 standardized habitat sampling points, including midway between each pair of recorders and in the centre of the array. At each point, I measured canopy cover (%) with a spherical densiometer held pointing north. I determined stem density by holding a 2-m pole horizontally and then counting the number of trees touched by the pole while making a full rotation (Avery and Burkhart 2015). The standard definition of a tree in monitoring protocols is any woody species with a height exceeding 2 m and a diameter at breast height (DBH) exceeding 4 cm (EMAN 2004). However, with several locations being dominated by wetlands with stunted tree growth, I defined a "tree" as any woody species with a minimum height of 1.5 m and a minimum DBH of 1 cm. The number of trees was divided by the area of the circle  $[\pi(2)^2]$  to determine stem density in trees/m<sup>2</sup> (Avery and Burkhart 2015). Using a standard diameter tape, I measured the diameter at breast height of the three trees nearest to the sampling point. I determined vegetative species richness within the array by recording the total number of species of trees, shrubs, and ericaceous plants encountered within the array while walking among habitat sampling points (approximately 1 h of effort). I found that the ground layer among arrays was consistently a combination of sphagnum moss and lichen, and thus omitted it from further consideration. I calculated the mean value for each structural habitat characteristic (DBH, stem density, canopy cover) from among the 5 habitat sampling points.

Although all locations were dominated by black spruce and balsam fir, I identified three distinct forest types within the general coniferous forest habitat type on the basis of species that were secondarily dominant (*i.e.*, > 5% but < 50% of stems). The "spruce/fir type" contained only black spruce and balsam fir in the canopy layer, or also contained a smaller portion ( $\leq$  20% of stems) of jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). The "birch/poplar type" was distinguished by the secondary prominence of birch and/or poplar species in the canopy layer. The "tamarack type" was distinguished by secondary prominence of tamarack in the canopy layer. Locations with tamarack appeared to have greater ericaceous plant species richness when compared to the other forest types.

## 3.2.4 Acoustic analysis

#### 3.2.4.1 Detecting vocalizations

I used Kaleidoscope software (Version 4.3.2, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) to automatically detect avian vocalizations and to group them into clusters of similar sounds. The settings used in the program included: maximum distance from the cluster centre = 2.0, fast-Fourier transform size = 256 points (5.33 ms), maximum number of states = 12, maximum distance to cluster centre for building clusters = 0.5, and maximum clusters created = 500. These settings ensure that all detections are assigned to a cluster. The clusters approximate species, but, sometimes, multiple clusters were associated with a single species. I therefore inspected sample detections from each cluster and manually renamed clusters according to the species they represented. Species identities were determined by listening to recordings of vocalizations and reviewing their

associated spectrograms, and comparing these to the species accounts on the Birds of North American website (Rodewald 2015).

Detected vocalizations were localized using a custom MATLAB program, which is described in Chapter 2. First, the program identified the channel with the maximum signal-to-noise ratio ("reference channel"). Second, it bandpass filtered (a set minimum and maximum frequency) the detection to remove frequencies above and below the target signal (*e.g.*, wind noise). Third, the program conducted pair-wise waveform crosscorrelations to measure the time-of-arrival differences of the signal between the reference channel and the other 7 channels in the array. Finally, using the time-of-arrival differences for each vocalization, combined with information about temperature and the locations of the microphones, the program produced UTM coordinates in two- and threedimensions, and a localization error value that reflects the certainty of the estimated location (see chapter 2 for details of the localization algorithm).

#### 3.2.4.2 Dataset filtering

I applied a number of exclusion criteria to the initial dataset. Previous studies (*e.g.*, Mennill et al. 2012; Wilson et al. 2014) demonstrated that localization becomes less reliable when analysing sounds produced outside the array. Additionally, I wanted to limit the sampling area to that which was assessed for general habitat characteristics. Using the "rgeos" package (Bivand and Rundel 2017) in R (Version 3.0.1; R Core Team, Boston, MA, USA), I created a 2-dimensional spatial polygon of the array based on the UTM coordinates of the array microphones. I then determined the minimum distance of each

localized vocalization from the edge of the polygon (0 m if inside the polygon). The list of vocalizations was reduced to include only those that originated from inside the microphone array or from within 5 m of its edge. This filtering step reduced the number of vocalizations considered for statistical analysis by approximately 60% (from 4,879,624 to 1,928,312). This reduction is substantial, but not surprising. Based on localization estimates in this study, and on previous research (*e.g.*, Dawson and Efford 2009), microphones can detect birds that are up to 90 m away. Therefore, the vast majority of the active "listening" space of the array fell outside my target area for habitat analyses.

I further reduced the dataset to include only those vocalizations that occurred during the targeted 24-h period of the recordings and that had a localization error value of 0.02 or less, which reduced the dataset from 1,928,312 to 470,761 vocalizations (*i.e.*, to 10% of the original). I considered these localizations to be accurate because, based on a "ground-truthing" speaker playback experiment, 90% of vocalizations with an error value  $\leq 0.02$  are within 3.55 m of their true locations (see Chapter 2). This error value strikes a balance between including vocalizations that are localized with a relatively high accuracy and retaining a large enough dataset that still reflects the local avian community. Next, although the localization procedure relies on vocalizations being detected in multiple channels, it is necessary to remove duplicate detections when counting the number of vocalizations produced. Whenever the same species was detected in multiple channels within 250 ms of each other, I retained only the first instance of the vocalization. This reduced the dataset from 470,761 to 89,242 vocalizations (*i.e.*, to 2% of the original). Finally, I excluded vocalizations produced by non-target sources, such as red squirrels

(*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*) and humans, which reduced the dataset from 89,242 to 49,155 vocalizations (*i.e.*, to 1% of the original).

#### 3.2.5 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in R (Version 3.0.1; R Core Team, Boston, MA, USA). For all analyses, data from the 2016 and 2017 breeding seasons were combined. After the dataset filtering, 2 array sites from the 2017 breeding season yielded no detections, and thus were removed from analysis. For sites that were sampled in both years, only data from 2017 were included in statistical models, in order to yield a similar number of samples from each year (2016 = 48 sites, 2017 = 40 sites). All descriptive statistics are mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, unless stated otherwise.

#### 3.2.5.1 Avian community

To give a general overview of the avian community of the study area, I calculated the proportion of the 88 sites where bird species were present. The naming conventions of the species followed the American Ornithological Society's checklist (Chesser et al. 2018; see Appendix 2 for species codes and common and scientific names).

## 3.2.5.2 Species richness

I investigated the relationship between avian species richness and several environmental variables. Species richness was the total number of species detected at a site during a 24-h sampling period. First, I used a general linear model to determine if species richness was related to habitat characteristics. The predictor variables in this model were 3 physical structure variables, including mean canopy cover (%), mean stem density (stems/m<sup>2</sup>), and mean DBH (cm), as well as the floristic variable, vegetative species richness. Second, I used a general linear model to determine if species richness was associated with mean daily temperature and Julian date. Although these two predictor variables were correlated (Pearson's r = 0.673, n = 88, p < 0.001), the variance inflation factor was 1.83, which was lower than values typically associated with multicollinearity (Quinn and Keough 2002). For each location, mean daily temperature was calculated as the mean value recorded by the portable weather station at 20-min intervals across the 24h recording session. Third, to determine if species richness was consistent at a given location between breeding seasons, I compared species richness between the 20 locations sampled in both 2016 and 2017 using a paired-samples t-test. Finally, I used a singlefactor ANOVA to determine if avian species richness was related to forest type, using the Tukey multiple comparison of means with 95% family-wise confidence level for post-hoc tests.

#### 3.2.5.3 Species-specific presence

I used logistic models to test for a relationship between habitat characteristics and the presence/absence of each species that was present in at least 10% of the array sites (*i.e.*,  $\geq$  9 of 88 sites). As predictor variables, I included 3 physical structure variables (mean canopy cover, mean stem density, and mean DBH) and 1 floristic variable (vegetative species richness). The three forest types represent categorical variation within the natural boreal forest. These categories are associated with floristics, but the classifications were subjective and based on personal observation. Therefore, I decided to record the forest type and address it through a separate set of analyses. I conducted a series of analyses using contingency tables and chi-square tests of independence to determine if the forest type was associated with the proportion of array locations where a given species was detected. The analysis was restricted to 14 species that met the assumptions of the test (*i.e.*, 80% of expected cell counts should be 5 or more), as per Quinn and Keough (2002).

#### 3.2.5.4 Spatial and temporal species composition

I used the Sorensen index ( $C_S$ ), which is widely used in pair-wise comparisons (Sorensen 1948; Southwood and Henderson 2000; Lennon et al. 2001; Magurran 2004) to compare the species composition in a given location from one forest type to the species composition in a given location from another forest type. The index is defined as the proportion of species that are present at both locations in a pairwise comparison:

$$C_{\rm S} = \frac{2a}{2a+b+c}$$

where *a* is the number species found at both locations, *b* is the number of species found at the first location and not the second, and *c* is the number of species found at the second location but not the first.  $C_S$  values near 1 indicate that the two locations are very similar in species composition, whereas  $C_S$  values near 0 indicate that the two locations are very different. I randomly selected 24 array locations from each forest type (n = 72). To compare the average similarities in avian composition among the birch/poplar, spruce/fir,

and tamarack forest types, I calculated  $C_S$  between all possible combinations of array locations for each pair of forest types. For example, I compared each of the 24 locations of the birch/poplar type to each of the 24 locations of the tamarack type, which resulted in 576  $C_S$  values. I then calculated the mean of these  $C_S$  values to quantify the average (± standard deviation) similarity for the two forest types.

Rather than using a different index, I adjusted the variables of the Sorensen index to calculate temporal species similarity ( $C_i$ ) for each of the 20 arrays that were deployed in the same locations in both 2016 and 2017. Temporal species similarity at a given site was defined as the proportion of species that were present at the location at both time points (Magurran 2004):

$$C_t = \frac{2a}{2a+b+c}$$

where a = number of species found at both points in time, b = number of species at time point 1 but not time point 2, and c = number of species at time point 2 but not time point 1. C<sub>t</sub> was calculated separately for each of the 20 array sites sampled in both 2016 and 2017, and then averaged among the 20 sites.

## **3.3 Results**

## 3.3.1 Avian community

Based on the 59,155 detections that comprised my final dataset, I detected 32 species across the 88 microphone array sites (Figure 3.2). The three most common species, as determined by the proportion of sites in which they were present, were Ruby-
crowned Kinglet, Dark-eyed Junco, and Yellow-rumped Warbler (Figure 3.2). The majority of species (22 species or 69%) were present at fewer than half of the sites. Common Nighthawk, a species-at-risk in Newfoundland and Labrador, was detected at a single site, and was the only species-at-risk detected in this study.

## 3.3.2 Species richness

Habitat characteristics, including mean canopy cover, mean stem density, mean DBH, and vegetative species richness, did not predict avian species richness ( $F_{4,83} = 1.19$ , p = 0.321, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.01$ ). However, avian species richness was associated with mean daily temperature and Julian date ( $F_{2,85} = 8.19$ , p < 0.001, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.14$ ; Table 3.1). When controlling for Julian date, species richness increased significantly with increasing mean daily temperature. In contrast, after controlling for the effects of mean daily temperature, species richness did not change with changes in Julian date (Table 3.1).

Species richness was compared among 20 locations sampled in both 2016 and 2017 (Table 3.2). Overall, species richness was significantly higher in 2016 (9.60 ± 2.64 species) than in 2017 (6.75 ± 4.02 species; 95% CI of mean difference = 1.42-4.28 species; paired *t*-test:  $t_{19} = 4.18$ , p < 0.001). I also found that species richness was significantly associated with forest type ( $F_{2,85} = 3.30$ , p = 0.042, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.05$ ; Figure 3.3). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons showed that mean species richness was significantly higher in the birch/poplar type ( $9.12 \pm 3.50$  species) than in the spruce/fir type ( $7.17 \pm 3.45$  species, p = 0.048), but not significantly different than in the tamarack type ( $7.50 \pm 1.02$ ).

2.50 species, p = 0.153). Avian species richness did not differ between the spruce/fir and tamarack types (p = 0.925).

## 3.3.3 Species-specific presence

I tested the relationship between the presence of each species and habitat characteristics (Table 3.3). For Black-throated Green Warbler, Cape May Warbler, and Magnolia Warbler, the logistic models had a McFadden R<sup>2</sup> greater than 0.2, indicating an excellent model fit (McFadden 1974). For the majority of species, however, the general habitat characteristics were not significant predictors of presence versus absence.

When controlling for other variables, increases in mean stem density, mean DBH, and vegetative species richness were each associated with increased probability of Blackthroated Green Warbler presence (Table 3.3). Stem density was positively associated with Boreal Chickadee presence, canopy cover was positively associated with Cape May Warbler presence, and vegetative species richness was positively associated with Magnolia Warbler and Yellow-bellied Flycatcher presence (Table 3.3).

I tested the relationship between the presence of each species and forest type (Table 3.4). Black-throated Green Warbler and Cape May Warbler were more likely to occupy the birch/poplar type than the other forest types. Orange-crowned Warbler and White-throated Sparrow were more likely to occupy the tamarack type than the other forest types. American Robin was less likely to occupy the spruce/fir type and more likely to occupy the birch/poplar type (Table 3.5).

#### 3.3.4 Spatial and temporal species composition

Avian species composition was similar among the three forest types (Table 3.6). Birch/poplar and tamarack stands were the most similar (mean  $C_S = 0.50 \pm 0.157$ ), whereas spruce/fir and tamarack stands were the least similar (mean  $C_S = 0.46 \pm 0.191$ ). These values indicate a moderate level of similarity among forest types, with nearly 50% of species being found in both forest types on average in pair-wise comparisons. Some species were absent from select forest types (Table 3.6). Bohemian Waxwing and Common Raven were absent from birch/poplar arrays, whereas Alder Flycatcher, Brown Creeper, Magnolia Warbler and Northern Waterthrush were absent from tamarack stands. American Crow, Winter Wren, and Canada Goose were absent from both birch/poplar and tamarack stands, but present in spruce/fir stands. However, the absences of these 9 species from these forest types may be coincidental because each species was present in only 1 to 3 locations overall.

When comparing locations sampled in both 2016 and 2017, the mean temporal species similarity was  $0.52 \pm 0.23$  (range: 0.00–0.84; Table 3.2). Therefore, depending on the array, the composition of the avian communities ranged from very similar between years to complete species replacement.

## **3.4 Discussion**

I found that physical structure (DBH, canopy cover, stem density) and floristic (vegetative species richness) variables were not significant predictors of avian species richness. However, these variables, singly or in combination, were significant predictors of presence for a number of species inhabiting the boreal forest. Species composition ranged widely between 2016 and 2017 in locations that were sampled in both years.

### 3.4.1 Avian community

The 32 species observed in this study have been documented previously to be present in the area by previous researchers, local land managers, and the conservation authority in Happy Valley-Goose Bay (Simon and Schwab 2005; HVGB 2010). The three most prevalent species – Ruby-crowned Kinglet, Dark-eyed Junco, Yellow-rumped Warbler – are forest generalist species, which are common and widespread throughout the coniferous and mixedwood habitats during the breeding season (Whitaker and Montevecchi 1999; Drapeau et al. 2000). The Common Nighthawk was the only speciesat-risk of the 15 thought to be in Newfoundland and Labrador, and it was detected at only a single microphone array site (NLFLR 2017). However, it is notable that Common Nighthawk was observed at this site in both 2016 and 2017, suggesting that this site is used consistently by this species.

## 3.4.2 Species richness

It is generally accepted that avian species richness increases with habitat diversity, which includes increased variation in both habitat structure and vegetative species

composition (Whittaker et al. 2001). While this concept is usually applied at spatial scales that incorporate several broad habitat types (e.g., forest, grassland, wetland), it can also be applied at a finer scale, such as within a single habitat type (e.g., coniferous forest). In North America and Europe, differences in avian assemblages at the regional scale are known to be associated with differences in the physical structure and floristics of forests (Rotenberry 1985; Warren et al. 2005). Several studies have shown a relation between avian species richness within a single forested habitat type and the DBH, stem density, and canopy cover of those habitats (i.e., Berg 1997; Warren et al. 2005; Deppe and Rotenberry 2008; Lemaître et al. 2012). However, these findings were conducted within more heterogeneous habitats and across larger spatial extents (*i.e.*,  $\geq 100 \text{ x} 100 \text{ km}$ ) than this study. For example, Deppe and Rotenberry (2008) correlated species richness with canopy cover and stem density at temporary stop-over sites in Mexico, and sampled locations across a wide environmental gradient that ranged from densely vegetated dunes and thickets to relatively open and sparsely vegetated mangroves. Additionally, the three physical structure characteristics (DBH, stem density, and canopy cover) that I considered are closely related to stand age, which correlates with the number of avian species in the boreal forest region (McCarthy and Weetman 2006; Thompson et al. 1999). I found that avian species richness was not correlated with DBH, tree height, or stem density. This is consistent with previous studies (Rotenberry 1985; Lee and Rotenberry, 2005) that found that physical structure characteristics better explain differences in avian assemblages between, rather than within, broad habitat classifications. Therefore, my data provides further support that variation in the physical structure of the habitat accounts for a relatively small proportion of the variation in species richness at fine spatial scales.

A strong, positive correlation between vegetative species richness and avian species richness has been demonstrated previously at the landscape scale (*i.e.*, James and Wamer 1982; Currie 1991; Tews et al. 2004). However, even at finer spatial scales, having a greater diversity of tree species increases the number of niches that different species can exploit for foraging, nesting, and shelter (Lee and Rotenberry 2005). For example, within 1-km<sup>2</sup> plots, Gillespie and Walter (2001) and Poulsen (2002) both found that both the number of bird species and the number of individuals of each species were positively correlated with the number of tree species. However, these studies were conducted in areas of high avian and vegetative species richness and diversity. For example, in the Gillespie and Walter (2001) study, which was conducted in Costa Rica and Nicaragua, mean forest bird richness was  $22 \pm 8.40$  species (range = 12-35), and mean woody vegetation richness was  $41.14 \pm 9.19$  species (range = 27-54). I found that vegetative species richness was not a significant predictor of avian species richness. This may be due to the lack of variation in vegetative species richness among locations where arrays were deployed (mean vegetative species richness =  $4.84 \pm 1.40$ ). The vast majority of sites (approximately 98%) were dominated by black spruce and/or balsam fir. Greater than 70% of the canopy layer composition was comprised of these two tree species (JP Ethier, personal observation). Small differences in the compositions of the shrub and ericaceous herb layers were noted among locations, but the locations predominantly contained speckled alder and Labrador tea. This vegetative species composition is indicative of the spruce-moss domain of Quebec (412,400 km<sup>2</sup>) and District 19A of Labrador (22,700 km<sup>2</sup>), which constitute a large portion of the boreal forest

(approximately 8% of the 5,520,000 km<sup>2</sup>; Robitaille and Saucier 1998; Forsyth et al. 2003).

Avian species richness was positively correlated with mean daily temperature after controlling for Julian date. DesGranges and LeBlanc (2012) conducted a similar study in the Quebec-Labrador Peninsula region of the Canadian boreal forest and also found that species richness was significantly correlated with temperature. At larger spatial scales, such as among different climatic zones, this pattern is explained by the speciesenergy theory (Wright 1983), which states that warmer temperatures allow for increased vegetative growth and therefore more food for primary and secondary consumers, such as birds. However, this is not likely the primary driver of the relationship at the small spatial scale used in my study. Another possibility is that a portion of avian species was present within arrays, but remained silent and thus undetected on cooler days. However, given that I recorded vocalizations over a 24-h period, this is unlikely, as individuals tend to produce thousands of vocalizations over a single day (Catchpole and Slater 2008). More realistically, the relationship between temperature and avian species richness is probably due to variation in the arrival dates of the various bird species, since departure and arrival dates are known to be affected by weather variables, such as precipitation, wind, and temperature (Sparks et al. 2002; Deppe et al. 2015). My data suggest that some migrant species were absent from the study area at the beginning of the study period (May) when temperatures were cooler, and that, as the study progressed towards late June/early July, temperatures increased and more species arrived.

Previous studies have shown that habitat floristics can affect avian assemblages at various scales (Rotenberry 1985; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; Hewson et al. 2011; DesGranges and LeBlanc 2012; Lemaître et al. 2012), and that this is especially true when comparing assemblages within a single, broad habitat type. By including forest type in my analyses, I found that avian species richness was higher in locations within the birch/poplar type, as compared to in the spruce/fir type. There is some evidence that mixed-wood forest stands (those than contain coniferous and deciduous tree species) support a higher diversity of food sources, particularly arthropods, and potential nest sites (Work et al. 2004; Buddle et al. 2006), which may contribute to higher avian species richness (Hobson and Bayne, 2000).

# 3.4.3 Species-specific presence

For the majority of species, the physical structure and floristics of the habitat were not significant predictors of presence/absence. This is consistent with previous studies (*i.e.*, Rotenberry 1985; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; Seavy and Alexander 2011; Lemaître et al. 2012) that found that both the physical structure and floristics of a habitat are potentially important when considering species individually, but that each species responds differently to variation in habitat characteristics. Therefore, some species show little or no response to variation in physical structure and floristics.

The relationship between forest type and presence was species-specific, with some species appearing to have a preference for specific forest types. For example, American Robin, Black-throated Green Warbler, and Cape May Warbler were present in a higher proportion of birch/poplar stands than in any other forest type. This may be driven by the increased diversity of food resources in stands with a deciduous component. Conversely, Orange-crowned Warbler and White-throated Sparrow were present in the highest proportion of locations within tamarack stands. These species tend to be associated with deciduous or mixed-wood habitats that are shrubby with low growth and numerous openings in the vegetation, or near the edges of these habitats (Falls and Kopachena 2010; Gilbert et al. 2010). Many of the tamarack stands were in close proximity to more open areas, such as wetlands or riparian habitat with small streams, which may have met the habitat requirements of these species.

Overall, my findings suggest that, at the local scale, the composition of avian assemblages in my study area is influenced predominantly by factors other than the habitat characteristics measured in this study. Several non-habitat factors affect habitat selection in birds, including competition (Jaakkonen et al. 2015), conspecific and heterospecific attraction (Forsman et al. 1998; Parejo et al. 2005; Campomizzi et al. 2008), and physiological constraints (Block and Brennan 1993; Jones 2001). Alternatively, it may be that, as Niemi et al. (1998) state, there is an "overabundance of suitable sites" within my study area. The authors specified that, while some locations are avoided, the majority of habitat is viewed as being of equivalent quality and thus equally exploited.

#### 3.4.4 Spatial and temporal species composition

The temporal species similarity values were highly variable among sites, ranging from 0.00 to 0.84 among the 20 locations sampled in both years. Some of this variation may be attributed to the observation that species richness at these locations was generally lower during 2017 in comparison to 2016 (Table 3.2). If a small number of species are present in the first year but do not return the next year, this will increase the temporal species turnover value, even if there are no new species that are present only in the second year. These results may also indicate that individuals and species are not consistently occupying particular patches or territories within the overall area between consecutive years. As the area of the microphone array is relatively small, individuals may have returned in 2017 to locations adjacent to the array site but just outside the area of detection. It is also possible that errors in detecting vocalizations and assigning them to species may have reduced temporal species similarity. Whatever the reason, my results are consistent with the meta-analysis by Schlossberg (2009), which found that 64% of adult migratory forest birds do not return to the same location between breeding seasons.

Differences in weather patterns and the arrival dates of individual species potentially influenced the differences in avian species composition observed between years. Wiley and Richards (1982) found that there was a positive correlation between temperature, the number of vocalizations, and the detectability of birds, as individuals were more likely to sing in warmer temperatures. Previous studies have also found that there is a negative relationship between temperature and date of arrival of migratory species, with species arriving on breeding sites earlier when spring temperatures are

warmer (Sparks et al. 2002). I noted a strong positive relationship between mean daily temperature and species richness. I also observed that snow in the forest persisted on the ground for a longer period into the breeding season in 2017 (JP Ethier, personal observation), and that the daily mean temperature (averaged over 24 h) in 2017 was 3.5°C (±4.8 SD) cooler compared to in 2016 when comparing the same Julian dates (17 May and 30 June). It is possible that the birds were less vocal in 2017 due to cooler temperatures, as compared to 2016. It may also be possible that migration in 2017 was delayed one or two weeks. E-bird checklists (ebird.org) for Happy Valley-Goose Bay for these years support this argument. Several migratory warbler species (e.g., Black-throated Green Warbler, Magnolia Warbler, Orange-crowned Warbler, Tennessee Warbler) were first recorded on the checklist approximately one week later in 2017, as compared to 2016. Since locations were sampled within a few days (Julian date) of each other in 2016 and 2017 in my study, daily temperature, through its effects on arrival dates, is likely the primary cause for differences in species richness and composition between breeding seasons.

There were relatively small differences in species composition between forest types. Most species detected in the study area were found in at least one location within each forest type. The primary difference was the proportion of sites in which each species was present, which I discussed when interpreting the species-specific models. That a handful of species were absent from certain forest types is likely coincidental. For example, Winter Wren was absent from birch/poplar and tamarack locations. However, this species was found in only one location in the study, and this location happened to be

spruce/fir. Furthermore, Winter Wrens are known to nest and forage near water and are associated with mature forest habitats that include large trees and components of dead wood in the form of both standing dead trees and downed woody debris (Hejl et al. 2002). These features, while not formally recorded, were most associated with birch/poplar locations and not spruce/fir locations (Ethier, personal observation).

## 3.4.5 Considerations and implications

There are some limitations to the scope of my study. My findings are likely only applicable to the general area in which the study took place (*i.e.*, the boreal forest of Labrador), as wildlife-habitat relationships inferred from relatively small spatial extents have limited transferability (Tuanmu et al. 2011). Regardless, such relationships are important for making local land-use decisions and are often necessary for establishing conservation efforts to protect habitat critical for survival and reproduction (Morrison et al. 2006). Furthermore, in this study, inferences based on statistical analysis could only be made for species that were adequately abundant. However, the most common species are generally those with the fewest constraints on habitat selectivity, such as generalists, which are the least likely to show significant effects. This presents a potential problem, as those species that are of the greatest interest to conservation efforts are usually uncommon or rare (Cunningham and Lindenmayer 2005).

I only considered a small subset of physical structure and floristic variables that have previously been used to study bird-habitat relationships. Commonly used variables include percent cover of each vegetative species (Gillespie and Walter 2001; Poulsen 2002; Lee and Rotenberry 2005; DesGranges and LeBlanc 2012), the number and percent cover of vegetative strata/height classes (Hobson and Schieck 1999; Deppe and Rotenberry 2008), total vegetative volume (Lewis and Starzomski 2015), and the number and DBH of snags/standing dead trees and downed woody debris (Imbeau et al. 1999; Drapeau et al. 2000). Incorporating these habitat variables may explain more variation in species richness and species-specific presence. Future studies should also include distances to landscape features such as wetlands, waterbodies, and anthropogenic structures (*e.g.*, roads, powerlines), as these features have the potential to significantly influence avian assemblages (*e.g.*, Summers et al. 2011; Zlonis et al. 2017).

It is important to collect data about habitat selection by common species, since many rare species were once abundant. Indeed, conservation organizations, such as Partners in Flight, emphasize that prevention is more feasible and affordable than recovery (Rosenberg et al. 2016), and consequently stress the importance of researching and monitoring all species in order to keep "common birds common". My findings provide a knowledge base for resource managers within the eastern boreal region of Labrador for determining which environmental characteristics are associated with species richness, presence, and composition. I found that DBH, canopy cover, stem density, and vegetative species richness were poor predictors of avian species richness, yet were significant predictors of presence for several individual avian species. These results indicate the importance of considering species individually and as a community as a whole, since different patterns emerge at different levels of analysis.



**Figure 3.1:** Map of 110 sites near North West River (NWR) and Happy-Valley-Goose Bay (HVGB), Labrador, where aspects of the avian community were compared to the physical structure and floristics of the habitat. Sites were sampled during the 2016 (n = 68, depicted by circles) and 2017 (n = 42, depicted by triangles) avian breeding seasons (May-July). Note: some points overlap because 20 locations from 2016 were resampled in 2017. The large area identified as "recent burn" (orange) represents the 1985 wildfire that destroyed 340 km<sup>2</sup>. Base map provided by Nature Conservancy of Canada and Memorial University. Original figure is in colour.



**Figure 3.2:** The proportion of 88 sites sampled in Labrador, Canada where bird species were present. Sites were sampled during the 2016 (N = 48) and 2017 (N = 40) avian breeding seasons. Species codes: ALFL = Alder Flycatcher (*Empidonax alnorum*), AMCR = American Crow (*Corvus brachyrhynchos*), AMRE = American Redstart (*Setophaga ruticilla*), AMRO = American Robin (*Turdus migratorius*), BLPW = Blackpoll Warbler (*Setophaga striata*), BOCH = Boreal Chickadee (*Poecile hudsonicus*), BOWA = Bohemian Waxwing (*Bombycilla garrulus*), BRCR = Brown Creeper (*Certhia americana*), BTNW = Black-throated Green Warbler (*Setophaga virens*), CANG = Canada Goose (*Branta canadensis*), CMWA = Cape May Warbler (*Setophaga tigrina*), COLO = Common Loon (*Gavia immer*), CONI = Common Nighthawk (*Chordeiles minor*), CORA = Common Raven (*Corvus corax*), DEJU = Dark-eyed Junco (*Junco hyemalis*), FOSP = Fox Sparrow (*Passerella iliaca*), GRAJ = Grey Jay (*Perisoreus canadensis*), HETH = Hermit Thrush (*Catharus guttatus*), LISP = Lincoln's Sparrow (*Melospiza lincolnii*), MAWA = Magnolia Warbler (*Setophaga magnolia*), NOWA = Northern Waterthrush (*Parkesia noveboracensis*), OCWA = Orange-crowned Warbler (*Oreothlypis celata*), PIGR = Pine Grosbeak (*Pinicola enucleator*), PISI = Pine Siskin (*Spinus pinus*), RBNU = Red-breasted Nuthatch (*Sitta canadensis*), RCKI = Ruby-crowned Kinglet (*Regulus calendula*), SWTH = Swainson's Thrush (*Catharus ustulatus*), TEWA = Tennessee Warbler (*Oreothlypis peregrina*), WIWR = Winter Wren (*Troglodytes hiemalis*), WTSP = White-throated Sparrow (*Zonotrichia albicollis*), YBFL = Yellow-bellied Flycatcher (*Empidonax flaviventris*), YRWA = Yellow-rumped Warbler (*Setophaga coronata*).



**Figure 3.3:** Avian species richness by forest type across 88 sites sampled in the 2016 and 2017 avian breeding seasons in Labrador, Canada. Open circles show avian species richness at each array. Filled circles with error bars show the mean ( $\pm$  standard error) avian species richness for a given forest type. All forest types were dominated by black spruce and/or balsam fir. The Birch/Poplar type also included birch and/or aspen (n = 34), and the Tamarack type also included tamarack (n = 24). The Spruce/Fir type included only spruce and fir (n = 30). Forest types with the same lowercase letter are statistically indistinguishable (Tukey multiple comparison of means;  $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

**Table 3.1:** Summary of the general linear model of avian species richness regressed against mean daily temperature (°C) and Julian date across 88 sites in Labrador, Canada during the 2016 and 2017 avian breeding seasons. Statistically significant ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) variables are shown in bold.

		Standard		
Variable	Estimate	Error	t value	<i>p</i> value
Intercept	2.34	4.54	0.52	0.608
Mean Daily Temperature	0.25	0.10	2.54	0.013
Julian Date	0.02	0.03	0.62	0.635

Overall model:  $F_{2,85} = 8.19$ , p < 0.001, adjusted  $R^2 = 0.14$ 

**Table 3.2:** Avian species that were present in 2016 and 2017 for 20 arrays sampled in both years in Labrador, Canada. The temporal species similarity ( $C_t$ ) was calculated between years. The array labels (*e.g.*, 'A003/A074') refer to the array numbers used at the same geographic location in 2016 and 2017.

Array	Species in 2016	Species in 2017	Similarity (C <sub>t</sub> )
A003/A074	5: DEJU, FOSP, PISI, RCKI, YRWA	3: BOCH, HETH, WTSP	0.00
A004/A075	7: BOCH, DEJU, HETH, OCWA, PISI, RCKI, SWTH	4: AMRO, HETH, RCKI, SWTH	0.55
A005/A076	7: AMRO, BOCH, FOSP, HETH, OCWA, PISI, RCKI	6: AMRO, BOCH, DEJU, HETH RCKI SWTH	0.62
A006/A077	7: BLPA, BOCH, DEJU, HETH, OCWA, RCKI,	5: BOCH, CMWA, PIGR, RCKI, WTSP	0.50
A008/A078	WTSP 8: BOCH, DEJU, HETH, PISI, RCKI, GRJA, WTSP, VDWA	1: RCKI	0.22
A011/A079	10: AMRO, BOCH, DEJU, FOSP, HETH, OCWA, PISI, RCKI WTSP, YRWA	9: AMRO, BOCH, CORA, DEJU, FOSP, OCWA, PISI, WTSP, YRWA	0.84
A012/A080	7: AMRO, DEJU, FOSP, HETH, OCWA, PISI, WTSP	8: AMRO, BOCH, CORA, DEJU, PIGR, PISI, RCKI, YRWA	0.53
A014/A081	7: BOCH, CMWA, DEJU, FOSP, RCKI, SWTH, VDWA	2: BOCH, RCKI	0.44
A015/A082	11: BOCH, FOSP, HETH, MAWA, NOWA, PIGR, PISI, RBNU, RCKI, SWTH, YRWA	6: AMRO, DEJU, HETH, PISI, RCKI, WTSP	0.35
A033/A096	8: DEJU, FOSP, HETH, PISI, RCKI, SWTH, WTSP, YRWA	7: AMRO, DEJU, HETH, PISI, RCKI, SWTH, WTSP	0.80
A034/A097	11: AMRE, BTNW, BLPA, BOCH, CMWA, DEJU, FOSP, NOWA, RCKI, WTSP, YRWA	8: BTNW, BOCH, CMWA, DEJU, PISI, SWTH, WTSP, YRWA	0.63
A037/A098	12: AMRO, BTNW, BOCH, CMWA, DEJU, LISP, PISI, RCKI, SWTH, WIWR, YBFL, YRWA	17: ALFL, AMRO, BTNW, BOCH, BRCR, CMWA, DEJU, FOSP, MAWA, PIGR, PISI, RCKI, SWTH, GRAJ, WIWR, YBFL, YRWA	0.76

## Table 3.2 (Continued):

Arrays	Species in 2016	Species in 2017	Similarity (C <sub>t</sub> )
A038/A099	13: AMRE, CMWA, DEJU,	13: ALFL, AMRO, DEJU,	
	FOSP, HETH, MAWA,	FOSP, HETH, MAWA,	0.62
	NOWA, OCWA, PISI, SWTH,	NOWA, PIGR, RCKI, SWTH,	0.02
	TEWA, WTSP, YRWA	WTSP, YBFL, YRWA	
A040/A100	12: AMRO, BLPW, BOCH,	9: DEJU, HETH, LISP,	
	CMWA, CORA, DEJU, FOSP,	OCWA, PIGR, PISI, RCKI,	0.48
	HETH, RCKI, SWTH, WTSP,	SWTH, WTSP	0.48
	YRWA		
A043/A104	15: AMRO, BOCH, BRCR,	9: AMRO, BTNW, BOCH,	
	DEJU, FOSP, NOWA, OCWA,	DEJU, RCKI, SWTH, TEWA,	0.59
	PISI, RBNU, RCKI, TEWA,	YBFL, YRWA	0.38
	GRAJ, WTSP, YBFL, YRWA		
A044/A105	8: BTNW, BOCH, DEJU, PISI,	4: AMRO, DEJU, SWTH,	0.50
	RCKI, SWTH, YBFL, YRWA	YBFL	0.30
A055/A109	12: AMRO, DEJU, FOSP,	9: AMRO, BOCH, DEJU,	
	HETH, OCWA, PISI, RCKI,	FOSP, HETH, SWTH, WTSP,	0.76
	SWTH, GRAJ, WTSP, YBFL,	YBFL, YRWA	0.76
	YRWA		
A062/A110	11: ALFL, AMRO, CONI,	6: ALFL, AMRO, CMWA,	
	DEJU, FOSP, PISI, RCKI,	CONI, FOSP, TEWA	0.59
	SWTH, TEWA, WTSP, YRWA		
A063/A111	9: DEJU, FOSP, HETH,	0	
	OCWA, PISI, RCKI, SWTH,		0.00
	WTSP, YRWA		
A067/A112	12: AMRO, BTNW, BOCH,	9: BOCH, CMWA, DEJU,	
	BRCR, DEJU, FOSP, PISI,	NOWA, PISI, RCKI, SWTH,	0.57
	RCKI, SWTH, TEWA, WTSP,	YBFL, YRWA	0.37
	YRWA		
Species code	es: ALFL = Alder Flycatcher, AMC	R = American Crow, AMRE = A	merican
D 1			1

**Species codes**: ALFL = Alder Flycatcher, AMCR = American Crow, AMRE = American Redstart, AMRO = American Robin, BLPW = Blackpoll Warbler, BOCH = Boreal Chickadee, BOWA = Bohemian Waxwing, BRCR = Brown Creeper, BTNW = Blackthroated Green Warbler, CANG = Canada Goose, CMWA = Cape May Warbler, COLO = Common Loon, CONI = Common Nighthawk, CORA = Common Raven, DEJU = Darkeyed Junco, FOSP = Fox Sparrow, GRAJ = Grey Jay, HETH = Hermit Thrush, LISP = Lincoln's Sparrow, MAWA = Magnolia Warbler, NOWA = Northern Waterthrush, OCWA = Orange-crowned Warbler, PIGR = Pine Grosbeak, PISI = Pine Siskin, RBNU = Redbreasted Nuthatch, RCKI = Ruby-crowned Kinglet, SWTH = Swainson's Thrush, TEWA = Tennessee Warbler, WIWR = Winter Wren, WTSP = White-throated Sparrow, YBFL = Yellow-bellied Flycatcher, YRWA = Yellow-rumped Warbler **Table 3.3:** Regression coefficients and pseudo  $R^2$  of logistic regression models comparing presence/absence versus habitat characteristics for 21 bird species across 88 sites. Only those species that were present in at least 10% of the sites (*i.e.*,  $\ge 9$  of 88 sites) were analysed. Values in bold indicate significance using log-likelihood statistics ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). Pseudo  $R^2$  calculated using McFadden (1974).

	Mean Canopy	Mean Stem		Vegetative	
Species	Cover	Density	Mean DBH	Species Richness	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>
American Robin	-0.01	-0.46	-0.02	0.05	0.02
Black-throated Green Warbler	0.01	2.76	0.23	0.51	0.22
Boreal Chickadee	0.00	1.68	0.00	-0.14	0.08
Cape May Warbler	0.06	1.01	-0.41	-0.19	0.24
Dark-eyed Junco	-0.01	-0.40	-0.02	0.25	0.04
Fox Sparrow	0.01	0.30	-0.01	-0.01	0.04
Gray Jay	0.00	0.93	-0.05	-0.09	0.03
Hermit Thrush	-0.02	1.13	-0.14	-0.10	0.11
Lincoln's Sparrow	0.01	-2.08	-0.34	0.16	0.18
Magnolia Warbler	0.07	-1.79	-0.05	0.79	0.24
Northern Waterthrush	0.03	0.01	0.07	0.17	0.08
Orange-crowned Warbler	0.00	-1.75	-0.20	0.36	0.16
Pine Grosbeak	0.02	-0.27	-0.01	0.21	0.03
Pine Siskin	0.02	0.82	-0.03	0.00	0.05
Red-breasted Nuthatch	0.03	0.52	0.16	-0.41	0.17
Ruby-crowned Kinglet	0.02	-0.25	-0.01	-0.15	0.03
Swainson's Thrush	0.00	1.15	0.07	0.32	0.07
Tennessee Warbler	0.03	-0.26	0.04	0.39	0.09
White-throated Sparrow	-0.02	-0.92	-0.17	0.07	0.17
Yellow-bellied Flycatcher	0.02	0.36	0.03	0.48	0.08
Yellow-rumped Warbler	-0.01	1.74	0.21	0.07	0.07

Spacios	Forest type				
Species	Birch/Poplar	Spruce/Fir	Tamarack		
Alder Flycatcher	2	1	0		
American Crow	0	1	0		
American Robin	16	10	13		
Black-throated Green Warbler	15	2	1		
Bohemian Waxwing	0	1	1		
Boreal Chickadee	14	13	8		
Brown Creeper	1	2	0		
Canada Goose	0	1	0		
Cape May Warbler	8	2	1		
Common Raven	0	2	2		
Dark-eyed Junco	19	18	20		
Fox Sparrow	13	9	8		
Hermit Thrush	10	10	14		
Lincoln's Sparrow	4	2	7		
Magnolia Warbler	1	1	0		
Northern Waterthrush	3	2	0		
Orange-crowned Warbler	7	4	15		
Pine Grosbeak	2	4	4		
Pine Siskin	17	16	13		
Red-breasted Nuthatch	2	4	1		
Ruby-crowned Kinglet	20	18	20		

**Table 3.4:** The number of array locations, of the 24 sampled from each forest type, where a given species was present.

# Table 3.4 (Continued)

Species	Forest type			
Species	Birch/Poplar	Spruce/Fir	Tamarack	
Swainson's Thrush	20	12	12	
Tennessee Warbler	7	2	3	
Whiskey Jack	4	4	1	
White-throated Sparrow	8	9	19	
Winter Wren	0	1	0	
Yellow-bellied Flycatcher	7	2	1	
Yellow-rumped Warbler	20	17	16	

**Table 3.5:** Contingency tables showing the observed number (and expected number) of locations where a given species was present versus absent across three forest types. Each species was tested independently. Bold numbers indicate a statistically significant chi-square test of independence ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

Species	Occupancy		Forest type		Chi-square	p-value
		Birch/Poplar	Spruce/Fir	Tamarack		
AMRO	Present	23 (17.8)	10 (15.7)	13 (12.5)	7.57	0.023
	Absent	11 (16.2)	20 (14.3)	11 (11.5)		
BTNW	Present	19 (8.5)	2 (7.5)	1 (6)	28.23	< 0.001
	Absent	15 (25.5)	28 (22.5)	23 (18)		
BOCH	Present	19 (15.5)	13 (13.6)	8 (10.9)	2.97	0.227
	Absent	15 (18.5)	17 (16.4)	16 (13.1)		
CMWA	Present	11 (5.4)	2 (4.8)	1 (3.8)	11.26	0.004
	Absent	23 (28.6)	28 (25.2)	23 (20.2)		
DEJU	Present	25 (26.7)	24 (23.5)	20 (18.8)	0.87	0.648
	Absent	9 (7.3)	6 (6.5)	4 (5.2)		
FOSP	Present	18 (15.1)	13 (13.3)	8 (10.6)	2.21	0.331
	Absent	16 (18.9)	17 (16.7)	16 (13.4)		
HETH	Present	15 (15.8)	12 (14)	14 (11.2)	1.93	0.380
	Absent	19 (18.2)	18 (16)	10 (12.8)		
OCWA	Present	9 (11.2)	5 (9.9)	15 (7.9)	13.73	0.001
	Absent	25 (22.8)	25 (20.1)	9 (16.1)		
PISI	Present	22 (21.6)	21 (19.1)	13 (15.3)	1.47	0.479
	Absent	12 (12.4)	9 (10.9)	11 (8.7)		
RCKI	Present	28 (27)	22 (23.9)	20 (19.1)	1.09	0.581
	Absent	6 (7)	8 (6.1)	4 (4.9)		
SWTH	Present	26 (21.3)	17 (18.8)	12 (15)	4.87	0.088
	Absent	8 (12.8)	13 (11.3)	12 (9)		
TEWA	Present	10 (7)	5 (6.1)	3 (4.9)	2.87	0.238
	Absent	24 (27)	25 (23.9)	21 (19.1)		
WTSP	Present	12 (16.6)	12 (14.7)	19 (11.7)	12.27	0.002
	Absent	22 (17.4)	18 (15.3)	5 (12.3)		
YRWA	Present	27 (25.5)	23 (22.5)	16 (18)	1.29	0.526
	Absent	7 (8.5)	7 (7.5)	8 (6)		

**Species codes**: AMRO = American Robin, BTNW = Black-throated Green Warbler, BOCH = Boreal Chickadee, CMWA = Cape May Warbler, DEJU = Dark-eyed Junco, FOSP = Fox Sparrow, HETH = Hermit Thrush, OCWA = Orange-crowned Warbler, PISI = Pine Siskin, RCKI = Ruby-crowned Kinglet, SWTH = Swainson's Thrush, TEWA = Tennessee Warbler, WTSP = White-throated Sparrow, YRWA = Yellow-rumped Warbler. **Table 3.6:** The number of shared and unshared avian species and corresponding Sorensen's index (mean  $C_S \pm$  standard deviation) values in pairwise comparisons among 3 forest types across 72 arrays. For example, in the comparison of birch/poplar stands and tamarack stands, 19 species were present in both forest types, while 6 species were present in one type and not the other. All forest types were dominated by black spruce and/or fir. The Birch/Poplar type also included birch and/or aspen (n = 24), and the Tamarack type also included tamarack (n = 24). The Spruce/Fir type included only spruce, fir, or pine (n = 24).

Forest types	Species shared	Species not shared	Mean C <sub>S</sub>
Birch/Poplar -	19: AMRO, BTNW,	6: ALFL, BOWA,	$0.496 \pm 0.157$
Tamarack	BOCH, CMWA,	BRCR, CORA,	
	DEJU, FOSP, GRAJ,	MAWA, NOWA	
	HETH, LISP, OCWA,		
	PIGR, PISI, RBNU,		
	RCKI, SWTH, TEWA,		
	WTSP, YBFL, YRWA		
Birch/Poplar -	23: ALFL, AMRO,	5: AMCO, BOWA,	$0.468 \pm 0.187$
Spruce/Fir	BTNW, BOCH,	CANG, CORA,	
	BRCR, CMWA,	WIWR	
	DEJU, FOSP, GRAJ,		
	HETH, LISP, MAWA,		
	NOWA, OCWA,		
	PIGR, PISI, RBNU,		
	RCKI, SWTH, TEWA,		
	WTSP, YBFL, YRWA		
Tamarack -	21: AMRO, BTNW,	7: ALFL, AMRO,	$0.464 \pm 0.191$
Spruce/Fir	BOWA, BOCH,	BRCR, CANG,	
-	CMWA, CORA,	MAWA, NOWA,	
	DEJU, FOSP, GRAJ,	WIWR	
	HETH, LISP, OCWA,		
	PIGR, PISI, RBNU,		
	RCKI, SWTH, TEWA,		
	WTSP. YBFL, YRWA		

**Species codes**: ALFL = Alder Flycatcher, AMCR = American Crow, AMRE = American Redstart, AMRO = American Robin, BLPW = Blackpoll Warbler, BOCH = Boreal Chickadee, BOWA = Bohemian Waxwing, BRCR = Brown Creeper, BTNW = Black-throated Green Warbler, CANG = Canada Goose, CMWA = Cape May Warbler, COLO = Common Loon, CONI = Common Nighthawk, CORA = Common Raven, DEJU = Dark-eyed Junco, FOSP = Fox Sparrow, GRAJ = Grey Jay, HETH = Hermit Thrush, LISP = Lincoln's Sparrow, MAWA = Magnolia Warbler, NOWA = Northern Waterthrush, OCWA = Orangecrowned Warbler, PIGR = Pine Grosbeak, PISI = Pine Siskin, RBNU = Red-breasted Nuthatch, RCKI = Ruby-crowned Kinglet, SWTH = Swainson's Thrush, TEWA = Tennessee Warbler, WIWR = Winter Wren, WTSP = White-throated Sparrow, YBFL = Yellow-bellied Flycatcher, YRWA = Yellow-rumped Warbler

#### References

- Avery TE, Burkhart HE. 2015. Forest measurements, fifth edition. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press.
- Berg A. 1997. Diversity and abundance of birds in relation to forest fragmentation, habitat quality and heterogeneity. Bird Study 44:355-366.
- Bivand R, Rundel C. 2017. rgeos: Interface to Geometry Engine Open Source (GEOS). R package version 0.3-22. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rgeos
- Blancher P, Wells J. 2005. The boreal forest region: North America's bird nursery. Am Birds 59:30-39.
- Block WM, Brennan LA. 1993. The habitat concept in ornithology: theory and application. Current Ornithol.11:35-91.
- Blumstein DT, Mennill DJ, Clemins P, Girod L, Yao K, Patricelli G, Deppe JL, Krakauer AH, Clark C, Cortopassi KA, Hanser SF, McCowan B, Ali AM, Kirschel ANG. 2011. Acoustic monitoring in terrestrial environments using microphone arrays: applications, technological considerations and prospectus. J Appl Ecol. 48:758-767.
- Buddle CM, Langor DW, Pohl GR, Spence JR. 2006. Arthropod responses to harvesting and wildlife: implications for emulation of natural disturbance in forest management. Biol Conserv. 128:346-357.
- Campomizzi AJ, Butcher JA, Farrell SL, Snelgrove AG, Collier BA, Gutzwiller KJ, Morrison MI, Wilkins RN. 2008. Conspecific attraction is a missing component in wildlife habitat modeling. J Wildl Manage. 72:331-336.
- Catchpole CK, Slater PJB. 2008. Bird song: biological themes and variations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Chesser RT, Burns KJ, Cicero C, Dunn JL, Kratter AW, Lovette IJ, Rasmussen PC, Remsen Jr. JV, Stotz DF, Winger BM, Winker K. 2018. Check-list of North American Birds (online). American Ornithological Society. http://checklist.aou.org/taxa
- Cunningham RB, Lindenmayer DB. 2005. Modeling count data of rare species: some statistical issues. Ecology 86:1135-1142.
- Currie DJ. 1991. Energy and large-scale patterns of animal- and place-species richness. Am Nat. 137:27-49.

- Dawson DK, Efford MG. 2009. Bird population density estimated from acoustic signals. J Appl Ecol. 46:1201-1209.
- Deppe JL, Rotenberry JT. 2008. Scale-dependent habitat use by fall migratory birds: vegetation structure, floristics, and geography. Ecol. Monogr. 78:461-487.
- Deppe JL, Ward MP, Bolus RT, Diehl RH, Celis-Murillo A, Zenzal Jr. TJ, Moore FR, Benson TJ, Smolinsky JA, Schofield LN, Enstrom DA, Paxton EH, Bohrer G, Beveroth TA, Raim A, Obringer RL, Delaney D, Cochran WW. 2015. Fat, weather, and date affect migratory songbirds' departure decisions, routes, and time it takes to cross the Gulf of Mexico. PNAS 112:E6331-E6338.
- DesGranges J, LeBlanc M. 2012. The influence of summer climate on avian community composition in the eastern boreal forest of Canada. Avian Conserv Ecol.7:2
- Downes C, Blancher P, Collins B. 2011. Landbird trends in Canada, 1968-2006. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Technical Thematic Report No. 12. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Drapeau P, Leduc A, Giroux J-F, Savard J-P L, Bergeron Y, Vickery WL. 2000. Landscape-scale disturbances and changes in bird communities of boreal mixedwood forests. Ecol Monogr. 70:423–444.
- EMAN, Ecological Monitoring and Assessment Network. 2004. EMAN: monitoring biodiversity in Canadian forests. Ottawa, ON: Environment Canada.
- Falls JB, Kopachena JB. 2010. White-throated Sparrow (*Zonotrichia albicollis*), version 2.0. In: Poole AF, Gill FB, editors. The Birds of North America. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Forsman JT, Mönkkönen M, Helle P, Inkeröinen J. 1998. Heterospecific attraction and food resources in migrants' breeding patch selection in northern boreal forests. Oecologia. 115:278-286.
- Forsyth J, Innes L, Deering K, Moores L. 2003. Forest Ecosystem Strategy Plan for Forest Management District 19, Labrador/Nitassinan, 2003–2023. Innu Nation & Department of Forest Resources & Agrifoods (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador) Sheshatshiu, Labrador. Available from: http://www.env.gov.nl.ca/env/env\_assessment/projects/Y2003/1062/text.pdf.
- Gilbert WMM, Sogge MK, Van Riper III C. 2010. Orange-crowned Warbler (*Oreothlypis celata*), version 2.0. In: Poole AF, Gill FB, editors. The Birds of North America. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.

- Gillespie TW, Walter H. 2001. Distribution of bird species richness at a regional scale in tropical dry forest of Central America. J Biogeogr. 28:651-662.
- Grima Z, Mamo Y, Mengesha G, Verma A, Asfaw T. 2017. Seasonal abundance and habitat use of bird species in and around Wondo Genet Forest in south-central Ethiopia. Ecol Evol.7:3397-3405.
- Hejl SJ, Holmes JA, Kroodsma DE. 2002. Winter Wren (*Troglodytes hiemalis*), version 2.0. In: Poole AF, Gill FB, editors. The Birds of North America. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Hewson CM, Austin GE, Gough SJ, Fuller RJ. 2011. Species-specific responses of woodland birds to stand-level habitat characteristics: the dual importance of forest structure and floristics. Forest Ecol Manage. 261:1224-1240.
- Hobson KA, Bayne E. 2000. Breeding bird communities in boreal forest of western Canada: consequences of "unmixing" in mixedwoods. Condor 102:759-769.
- Hobson KA, Schieck J. 1999. Changes in bird communities in boreal mixedwood forest: harvest and wildfire effects over 30 years. Ecol. Appl. 9:849-863.
- Hobson KA, Rempel RS, Greenwood H, Turnbull B, Van Wilgenburg SL. 2002. Acoustic surveys of birds using electronic recordings: new potential from an omnidirectional microphone system. Wildl Soc Bull. 30:709-720.
- Honkanen M, Roberge J, Rajasärkkä A, Mönkkönen M. 2010. Disentangling the effects of area, energy and habitat heterogeneity on boreal forest bird species richness in protected areas. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 19:61-71.
- HVGB, Town of Happy Valley-Goose Bay. 2010. Habitat conservation plan for the town of Happy Valley-Goose Bay. Corner Brook, NL: NL Eastern Habitat Joint Venture.
- Imbeau L, Savard J-PL, Gagnon R. 1999. Comparing bird assemblages in successional black spruce stands originating from fire and logging. Can J Zool. 77:1850-1860.
- Jaakkonen T, Kivelä SM, Meier CM, Forsman JT. 2015. The use and relative importance of intraspecific and interspecific social information in a bird community. Behav Ecol. 26:55-64.
- James FC, Wamer NO. 1982. Relationships between temperate forest bird communities and vegetation structure. Ecology 63:159-171.
- Johnson DH. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65–71.

- Jones, J. 2001. Habitat selection studies in avian ecology: a critical review. Auk 118:557-562.
- Julliard R, Clavel J, Devictor V, Jiguet F, Covet D. 2006. Spatial segregation of specialists and generalists in bird communities. Ecol Lett. 9:1237-1244.
- Lee P, Rotenberry J. 2005. Relationships between bird species and tree species assemblages in forested habitats of eastern North America. J Biogeogr. 32:1139-1150.
- Lemaître J, Darveau M, Zhao Q, Fortin D. 2012. Multiscale assessment of the influence of habitat structure and composition on bird assemblages in boreal forest. Biodiversity Conserv. 21:3355-3368.
- Lennon JJ, Koledd PA, Greenwood JJD, Gaston KJ. 2001. The geographic structure of British bird distributions: diversity, spatial turnover and scale. J Anim Ecol. 70:966-979.
- Lewis KP, Starzomski BM. 2015. Bird communities and vegetation associations across a treeline ecotone in the Mealy Mountains, Labrador, which is an understudied part of the boreal forest. Can J Zool. 93:477-486.
- MacArthur RH, MacArthur JW. 1961. On bird species diversity. Ecology 42: 594-598.
- MacArthur RH, MacArthur JW, Preer J. 1962. On bird species diversity. II. Prediction of bird census from habitat measurements. Am Nat. 96:167-174.
- Magurran AE. 2004. Measuring biological diversity. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science.
- McCarthy JW, Weetman G. 2006. Age and size structure of gap-dynamic, old-growth boreal forest stands in Newfoundland. Silva Fennica 40:209-230.
- McElhinny C, Gibbons P, Brack C, Bauhus J. 2005. Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: its definition and measurement. Forest Ecol Manag. 218: 1-24.
- McFadden D. 1974. Conditional logit analysis of qualitative choice behavior. In: Zarembka P, editor. Frontiers in Econometrics. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Mennill DJ, Battiston M, Wilson DR, Foote JR, Doucet SM. 2012. Field test of an affordable, portable, wireless microphone array for spatial monitoring of animal ecology and behaviour. Methods Ecol Evol. 3:704-712.
- Morrison ML, Marcot B, Mannan W. 2006. Wildlife-habitat relationships: concepts and applications. 3rd Edition. Washington, DC: Island Press.

- Niemi G, Hanowski J, Helle P, Howe R, Mönkkönen M, Venier L, Welsh D. 1998. Ecological sustainability of birds in boreal forests. Ecol Soc 2:17.
- NLFLR, Newfoundland and Labrador Fisheries and Land Resources. 2017. Birds. Retrieved from: http://www.flr.gov.nl.ca/wildlife/all\_species/birds.html. Accessed 24 November 2017.
- Notzl L, Greene R, Riley JL. 2013. Labrador Nature Atlas. Vol. I. Toronto, ON: Nature Conservancy of Canada.
- Parejo D, Danchin E, Avilés JM. 2005. The heterospecific habitat copying hypothesis: can competitors indicate habitat quality? Behav Ecol. 16:96-105.
- Poulsen BO. 2002. Avian richness and abundance in temperate Danish forests: tree variables important to birds and their conservation. Biodiversity Conserv. 11:1551-1566.
- Quinn GP, Keough MJ. 2002. Experimental design and data analysis for biologists. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Robitaille A, Saucier JP. 1998. Paysages régionaux du Québec méridional. Direction de la gestion des stocks forestiers et Direction des relations publiques, Ministére des Ressources Naturelles du Québec. Blainvile, QC: Les publications du Québec.
- Rodewald P, editor. 2015. The Birds of North America: https://birdsna.org. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology.
- Rosenberg KV, Kennedy JA, Dettmers R, Ford RP, Reynolds D, Alexander JD,
  Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Bogart RE, Butcher GS, Camfield AF, Couturier A,
  Demarest DW, Easton WE, Giocomo JJ, Keller RH, Mini AE, Panjabi AO,
  Pashley DN, Rich TD, Ruth JM, Stabins H, Stanton J, Will T. 2016. Partners in
  Flight Landbird Conservation Plan: 2016 Revision for Canada and Continental
  United States. Partners in Flight Science Committee.
- Rotenberry JT. 1985. The role of habitat in avian community composition: physiognomy or floristics? Oecologia 67:213–217.

Schlossberg S. 2009. Site fidelity of shrubland and forest birds. Condor 111:238-246.

Schmiegelow FKA, Mönkkönen M (2002) Habitat loss and fragmentation in dynamic landscapes: avian perspectives from the boreal forest. Ecol Appl. 12:375–389.

- Seavy NE, Alexander JD. 2011. Interactive Effects of Vegetation Structure and Composition Describe Bird Habitat Associations in Mixed Broadleaf—Conifer Forest. J Wildl. Manage. 75:344-352.
- Şekercioğlu CH, Primack RB, Wormworth J. 2012. The effects of climate change on tropical birds. Biol Conserv. 148:1-18.
- Simon NPP, Schwab FE. 2005. The response of conifer and broad-leaved trees and shrubs to the wildfire and clearcut logging in the boreal forests of central Labrador. Northern J Appl Forestry 22:35-41.
- Sorensen T. 1948. A method of establishing groups of equal amplitude in plant sociology based on similarity of species content and its application to analyses of the vegetation on Danish commons. Biologiskeskrifter (Kongelige Danske videnskabernesselskab) 5:1-34.
- Southwood TRE, Henderson PA. 2000. Ecological methods. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science.
- Sparks T, Crick H, Elkins N, Moss R, Moss S, Mylne K. 2002. Birds, weather and climate. Weather 57:399-410.
- Summers PF, Cunnington GM, Fahrig L. 2011. Are the negative effects of roads on breeding birds caused by traffic noise? J Appl Ecol. 48:1527-1534.
- Tews J, Brose U, Grimm V, Tielbörger K, Wichmann MC, Schwager M, Jelsch F. 2004. Animal species diversity driven by habitat heterogeneity/diversity: the importance of keystone structures. J Biogeogr. 31:79-92.
- Thompson ID, Hogan HA, Montevecchi WA. 1999. Avian communities of mature balsam fir forests in Newfoundland: age-dependence and implications for timber harvesting. Condor 101:311-323.
- Tuanmu MN, Vina A, Roloff GJ, Liu W, Ouyang Z, Zhang H, Liu J. 2011. Temporal transferability of wildlife habitat models: implications for habitat monitoring. J Biogeogr. 38:1510-1523.
- Ward M, Schlossberg S. 2004. Conspecific attraction and the conservation of territorial songbirds. Conserv Biol. 18:519-525.
- Warren TL, Betts MG, Diamond AW, Forbes GJ. 2005. The influence of local habitat and landscape composition on cavity-nesting birds in a forested mosaic. Forest Ecol Manage. 214:331-343.

- Whitaker DM, Montevecchi WA. 1999. Breeding bird assemblages inhabiting riparian buffer strips in Newfoundland, Canada. J Wildl Manage. 63:167-179.
- Whittaker RJ, Willis KJ, Field R. 2001. Scale and species richness: towards a general, hierarchical theory of species diversity. J Biogeogr. 28:453-470.
- Wiley RH, Richards DG. 1982. Sound transmission and signal detection. In: Kroodsma DF, Miller EH, editors. Acoustic communication in birds. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Willson MF, Comet TA. 1996. Bird communities of northern forests: patterns of diversity and abundance. Condor 98:337-349.
- Wilson DR, Mennill DJ. 2011. Duty cycle, not signal structure, explains conspecific and heterospecific responses to calls of Black-capped Chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*). Behav Ecol. 22:784-790.
- Wilson DR, Battiston M, Brzustowski J, Mennill DJ. 2014. Sound Finder: a new software approach for localizing animals recorded with a microphone array. Bioacoustics 23:99-112.
- Work TT, Shorthouse DP, Spence JR, Volney WJA, Langor D. 2004. Stand composition and structure of the boreal mixedwood and epigaeic arthropods of the Ecosystem Management Emulating Natural Disturbance (EMEND) landbase in northwestern Alberta. Can J For Res. 34:417-430.
- Wright DH. 1983. Species-energy theory: an extension of species-area theory. Oikos 41:496-506.
- Zlonis EJ, Pani HG, Bednar JD, Hamady M, Niemi GJ. 2017. Habitats and landscapes associated with bird species in a lowland conifer-dominated ecosystem. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:7.

Chapter 4: Using microphone arrays to demonstrate microhabitat selectivity in two common avian species in steep decline: Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler

Abstract: Understanding the microhabitat preferences of animals can help managers to develop better conservation and recovery strategies. However, identifying microhabitat preferences can be challenging. Traditional methods used to obtain this information are limited by cost, accuracy, and human resources. In this study, I investigated avian microhabitat preferences using microphone arrays that are capable of accurately localizing vocalizing birds. My objective was to identify the microhabitat characteristics associated with two common species in steep decline, the Boreal Chickadee (Poecile hudsonicus) and the Cape May Warbler (Setophaga tigrina). I deployed 68 eight-channel (four-recorder) arrays at random locations in Labrador, Canada during the 2016 avian breeding season. I returned in 2017 to the 18 array locations where the target species had been detected the previous year and characterized the microhabitat at the exact locations where they had been detected. I also characterized the microhabitat at a matching set of randomly determined control locations. Results show that Boreal Chickadees select trees with greater diameter-at-breast-height, and that Cape May Warblers select trees with greater canopy cover. These findings demonstrate microhabitat selectivity for these two species in steep decline.

# 4.1 Introduction

In birds and other taxa, habitat selection is viewed as a hierarchical, decisionmaking process that occurs at several spatial scales (McGarigal et al. 2016). At the first

and broadest scale, avian species are restricted to a geographic range based on physiological constraints, such as thermoregulation and metabolic rate, and morphological constraints, such as wing shape and size that limit the ability to disperse. At finer spatial scales, individuals select locations for home ranges based on general habitat characteristics of the environment, such as a densely vegetated coniferous forest. At the final scale, individuals select specific microhabitat (*e.g.*, specific trees) for engaging in daily activities, such as singing, nesting, or foraging (Johnson 1980; Hutto 1985; Block and Brennan 1993; Jones 2001). For example, Acadian Flycatchers (*Empidonax virescens*) in eastern Arkansas select Nuttall's oak (*Quercus nuttallii*) and possumhaw holly (*Ilex decidua*) trees for nesting sites more often than would be expected by chance based on the abundance of these tree species (Wilson and Cooper 1998).

Biologists and government agencies can develop better conservation and recovery strategies by identifying and preserving a species' preferred microhabitat, particularly if it is associated with increased survival and reproduction (Jones 2001). Furthermore, models including microhabitat and general habitat variables are often better at predicting avian community metrics, such as presence, abundance, and diversity (*e.g.*, McDermott et al. 2011), than models produced at only one spatial scale. Incorporating microhabitat information can also assist managers in balancing competing objectives, such as maximizing timber harvest, minimizing risk to wildlife, and fostering post-harvest restoration of the habitat back to its original state (Brown et al. 2004; Kilgore and Blinn 2004). The techniques used by managers can dramatically influence several microhabitat

characteristics important for birds, such as retaining a large volume of coarse woody debris and snags used for nesting and foraging (Riffell et al. 2011).

Identifying microhabitat selected by wildlife can be challenging and timeconsuming (Bibby et al. 2000; Stratford and Stouffer 2013; Nemes and Islam 2017). Without identifying and quantifying the microhabitat, researchers can only assume that each element within the general habitat is used equally by an individual or species occupying that particular environment. Therefore, it is often crucial to establish the microhabitat selected relative to its availability in the broader environment, and relative to the availability of alternatives (Jones 2001). Most studies involve searching for and following marked individuals to determine territory boundaries and features used for singing and/or nesting, and then measuring the vegetation characteristics of those features at mapped locations determined from focal sampling (Martin and Geupel 1993; Bibby et al. 2000; Nemes and Islam 2017). Other studies link telemetry locations to associated vegetation (*e.g.*, Patten et al. 2005; Hansbauer et al. 2010). Both approaches are labourintensive and limit the number of individuals that can be sampled and the spatial extent over which one can infer relationships.

Microphone arrays allow researchers to localize vocalizing animals with submetre accuracy and are thus a promising new technique for studying acoustic and spatial behaviour (Barker et al. 2009). Microphone arrays consist of three or more acoustic recording units distributed throughout a location where individuals are expected to vocalize. Since sound travels at a slow and predictable rate through air (approximately

343 m/s), an animal's acoustic signal will reach each microphone at a slightly different time, depending on where the animal is in relation to each microphone. The location of the vocalizing animal can be determined by measuring the time-of-arrival differences of the sound between the microphones in the array, and then applying a tri-lateralization technique to those values (*e.g.*, Wilson et al. 2014). Unlike older microphone arrays, which required kilometers of cable and several days to set up (Mennill et al. 2006), modern microphone arrays use commercially available wireless acoustic recording units that are easy to transport and set up. For example, Mennill et al. (2012) were able to fit an entire 8-microphone cable-free array into a single backpack and to set it up in the field in under an hour. Microphone arrays record vocalizations passively, thus removing the need to capture animals and minimizing observer effects on avian behaviour and habitat choice (Mech and Barber 2002; Lee and Marsden 2008). Having multiple systems deployed simultaneously and recording continuously, or scheduled to record for long periods of time, can increase the likelihood of detecting rare species (Blumstein et al. 2011). Therefore, microphone arrays may increase accuracy and decrease the time investments associated with studying microhabitat selection. Most studies involving microphone arrays have been proof-of-concept studies, with only a few studies applying the technology to biological questions (e.g., duetting behaviour in Rufous-and-white Wrens, Thryophilus rufalbus; Mennill et al. 2006; Mennill and Vehrencamp 2008; interindividual spacing in male American bullfrogs, Rana catesbeiana, and Greater Sage Grouse, *Centrocercus urophasianus*; Bates et al. 2010; Paticelli and Krakauer 2010). Very few studies have used microphone array technology to identify and characterize microhabitat preferences (e.g. Wilson and Bayne 2018).

In this study, I used microphone arrays in the boreal forest of Labrador, Canada to test for microhabitat selection in Boreal Chickadee (*Poecile hudsonicus*) and Cape May Warbler (*Setophaga tigrina*), two common species in steep decline according to the USGS North American Breeding Bird Survey 1966-2015 report (Sauer et al. 2017). I conducted this study in Labrador because the Boreal Shield Ecozone in Labrador is approximately 1.8 million km<sup>2</sup> (approximately 18% of Canada's landmass) and is 88% forested. Although the ecozone provides substantial habitat for breeding birds, the majority of bird surveys within this ecozone, including the USGS North American Breeding Bird Survey, have been conducted in southern Ontario and Quebec, with poor coverage outside these regions (Downes et al. 2011).

Using the audio recordings from microphone arrays, I estimated the locations of call perches of Boreal Chickadees and song perches of Cape May Warblers. I characterized the microhabitat at points where the focal species vocalized, as well as at a matching set of random control points at the same general location. My objectives were to (1) demonstrate that microphone arrays are a feasible and practical method for studying microhabitat selection in birds, and (2) determine and describe the microhabitat characteristics of the call and song perches selected by Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler, respectively. I hypothesized that, if Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler select perches non-randomly, then the microhabitat characteristics of those perches would differ from the characteristics of random points within the same general location.
#### 4.2 Methods

### 4.2.1 Target species

The Boreal Chickadee is a small (10-g) year-round resident of the boreal forest (Ficken et al.1996). The IUCN lists boreal chickadees as being of least concern in terms of conservation status, but populations are declining in several portions of their range throughout the USA and Canada. The USGS North American Breeding Bird Survey 1966-2015 report indicates yearly declines of 4.35% in Nova Scotia and 5.24% in New Brunswick, Canada (Sauer et al. 2017). Data specific to Newfoundland and Labrador do not exist, as these regions are not included in the USGS North American Breeding Bird Survey (Sauer et al. 2017), In 2007, the Boreal Chickadee was placed on the National Audubon Society's "Top 10 Common Birds in Decline" list, with a reported 73% population decline from 19.5 million to 5.2 million individuals since the mid-1960s (Brennan 2007; Butcher 2007).

The Cape May Warbler is a small (10-g) Neotropical migrant that breeds extensively in the Canadian boreal forest during the summer (Baltz and Latta 1998), and which spends the winter in portions of the southern United States, South America, and the Caribbean, including Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. In summer, it is a "spruce budworm specialist" since its abundance increases with outbreaks of spruce budworm, *Choristoneura fumiferana* (Baltz and Latta 1998). The North American Bird Conservation Initiative identifies Cape May Warbler as a "common bird in steep decline" (NABCI 2014). The USGS North American Breeding Bird Survey 1966-2015 report indicates that the North American populations have declined by 2.5% annually, cumulating in a 72% population decline, from approximately 25 million to 7 million individuals, since the mid-1960s (Sauer et al. 2017).

## 4.2.2 Array deployment

I deployed 68 microphone arrays in a 50 x 50 km area between North West River and Happy Valley-Goose Bay in Labrador, Canada during the 2016 avian breeding season (15 May to 15 July; Figure 3.1). The locations of sites were selected at random, but with the constraints that they were within 1 km of road access and a minimum distance of 500 m from each other. I chose a maximum distance from road access of 1 km because hiking beyond this distance through dense forest while carrying a microphone array would have been difficult and would have reduced our sample size. I chose to separate sites by a minimum of 500 m because this reduced the risk of detecting the same birds at multiple sites (Wilson and Mennill 2011). GPS coordinates for sites were generated using a random integer set generator that creates non-repeating integers within confined boundaries (RANDOM.org). These random coordinates were then plotted on 1:50,000 scale topographic maps (National Topographic System, Series A771, Edition 4MCE, Map13 F/7 - 13 F/10) and discarded if they violated the inclusion criteria or were within a delineated swamp, bog, or water body.

Each array consisted of 4 SM3 audio recorders (Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA) attached to trees in a 40 x 40 m square that encompassed approximately 0.15 ha. Each recorder had two channels: a built-in omnidirectional microphone (frequency range: 50-20000 Hz,  $\pm 10$  dB) was placed approximately 1.35 m above the ground, and a

second external omnidirectional microphone (model: SMM-A2; frequency range: 50-20000 Hz,  $\pm 10$  dB) was positioned in the forest canopy approximately 2 to 3 m above the first. All microphones were pointed towards the centre of the array. As a requirement of localization (Mennill et al. 2012), recorders were synchronized to within 1 ms of each other by connecting them to external GPS units (model: Garmin SM3 GPS). The position of each microphone was determined using a survey-grade GNSS with 10-cm accuracy (Geo7X, Trimble, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). Each recorder was programmed to record continuously until stopped, and to create a new stereo sound file every 2 h throughout this time (WAVE format, 24 kHz sampling rate, 16-bit amplitude encoding). Each array recorded for 24 h, beginning 2 h after setup to minimize disturbance effects associated with setup. The array was left recording for an additional day if it rained on the first day. Field equipment included 4 arrays (*i.e.*, 16 recorders), and 2 arrays were relocated each day throughout the season.

I recorded weather variables by placing a Kestrel 5500 portable weather station in the middle of every other array. Since two arrays were deployed at any given time, and since one of them always included a weather station, I had continuous weather data for the general vicinity of each array. The weather stations sampled at 20-min intervals throughout the field season. They recorded a suite of weather variables, including temperature ( $\pm$  0.1 °C), wind speed ( $\pm$  0.1 km/h), relative humidity ( $\pm$  0.1%), and barometric pressure ( $\pm$  0.1 mb). Temperature, in particular, affects the speed of sound and was required for sound localization. Wind can also affect the signal-to-noise ratio and

thus the probability of detecting signals. However, wind speeds at microphone array locations were always low (mean = 0.75 km/h, standard deviation = 1.65 km/h, minimum = 0.00 km/h, maximum = 12.24 km/h) and thus were not considered further. Humidity and barometric pressure have been found to have negligible effects on localization (Wölfel and McDonough 2009) and therefore were not considered further.

### 4.2.3 Acoustic analysis

I used the Cape May Warbler song, as described on the species' Birds of North America entry (Baltz and Latta 1998; Figure 4.1). The Boreal Chickadee does not have a true song, but does produce up to 13 different calls, including gargles, chirps, and cackles (Ficken et al. 1996). I used the "chick-a-dee" call to identify and localize boreal chickadees (Figure 4.1), since it is produced in a variety of contexts. This call can be used to locate mates during foraging and nest cavity excavation, and to signal to a mate that the bird has returned to the nest site with food (McLaren 1976). Therefore, I concluded that this call would be an appropriate signal for identifying microhabitat use on the breeding grounds.

I recorded over 3600 h of audio from 68 arrays. Following the field season, avian vocalizations were automatically detected and grouped into clusters of similar sounds using *Kaleidoscope* software (version 4.3.2, Wildlife Acoustics, Concord, MA, USA). I used the following settings within *Kaleidoscope*: FFT window size = 256 points (5.33 ms); frequency range of potential signals = 2000–10000 Hz; duration of potential signals

= 0.1-4.0 s; maximum inter-syllable gap = 0.35 s. Settings used during the clustering process included: maximum distance from the cluster centre = 2.0; maximum states = 12; maximum distance to cluster centre for building clusters = 0.5; maximum clusters created = 500. *Kaleidoscope* generated a detection list text file with one row for each vocalization (2,734,885 detections in total) and columns describing the structure of the detection (duration, minimum frequency, maximum frequency, mean frequency), its position within the raw recording, and the species to which it was assigned. The analysis ran on a desktop computer (iMac, 32 GHz Intel Core i5, 16GB RAM) and took approximately 25 h to process. Inspecting the resulting detections manually to confirm species identification required a further 160 h.

Vocalizations were localized using a custom MATLAB program (see details in chapter 2). For each detection, the program identified the channel in which the vocalization had the highest signal-to-noise ratio ("reference channel"). I bandpass filtered the vocalization using the minimum and maximum frequencies provided by Kaleidoscope to maximize the signal-to-noise ratio, and then used pair-wise waveform cross-correlations to measure the time-of-arrival differences of the vocalization between the reference channel and each of the other channels in the array. Using these time-of-arrival differences, the known locations of the microphones, and the temperature at the time of recording, the program estimated the two-dimensional location from which the sound originated (UTM coordinates). It also provided an error value that reflects the accuracy of the estimated location. Based on a ground-truthing experiment in which I

broadcasted frequency upsweeps through a speaker from known locations inside microphone arrays, 95% of localizations with an error value of 0.01 (a unitless measure of confidence) or less are within 3.59 m of their true locations in 2-dimensional space (see chapter 2). I reduced my overall dataset to include only those vocalizations produced within the array by Boreal Chickadees or Cape May Warblers (674 vocalizations), and only those with a localization error value of 0.01 or less (429 vocalizations). The program can also estimate locations in 3-dimensions, but the ground-truthing experiment showed the three-dimensional localization to be inaccurate in the vertical dimension (*i.e.*, elevation). Thus, I relied on 2-dimensional estimates of location for this study.

## 4.2.4 Microhabitat characterization

In 2017, I returned to 18 array locations where Boreal Chickadee (12 array locations) or Cape May Warbler (8 array locations) had been detected in 2016. Localizing vocalizations required several weeks of processing and therefore it was not possible to return to locations during the same breeding season. However, the microhabitat features that I measured (see below) are structural traits that, in all likelihood, change very little between consecutive years unless significantly altered or disturbed (i.e., logging, forest fire).

For each array and for each species, my goal was to characterize the microhabitat of up to 12 different estimated perch locations from the previous year (hereafter referred to as "perch sites"), and to compare the microhabitat characteristics of those perch sites to the microhabitat of an equal number of randomly determined control sites from within the

same array. Often several vocalizations were produced from each perch site. If both species occurred within an array, I used a separate set of random points for each species. Perch sites were considered different if they were separated by at least 1 m. If more than 12 perch sites existed within a given array for a given species, I selected 12 at random. If fewer than 12 existed, I used all of the available perch sites. Random sites were determined using a random number generator (RANDOM.org) to produce a northern offset (between 0 and 40 m) and an eastern offset (between 0 and 40 m) from the southwest corner of the array.

I located perch sites and the randomly determined control sites by converting their UTM coordinates to waypoints on the Trimble Geo 7x. I then used the built-in navigation software, which gives a real-time estimate of location after base-station correction (Goose Bay base station, which was within 25 km of all locations), to find the sites within the arrays. If no tree was within 2 m of a perch site, the location was considered an error and the site was eliminated from further consideration. A tree was defined as any woody stemmed species with a diameter greater than or equal to 1 cm, with viable perching locations (*i.e.*, branches, limbs). If no trees were within 2 m of a randomly determined control site, a new randomly determined site was created and used in its place to ensure that I had an equal number of perch sites and control sites for each species at each array. Shrubs were not excluded, however all perches were nonetheless found in balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*), black spruce (*Picea mariana*), or birch trees (*Betula* sp.).

For each perch site and control site, I measured stem density by holding a 2-m pole horizontally, and then counting the number of trees touched by the pole while making a full rotation. The number of trees was then divided by the area of the circle to determine stem density as stems/m<sup>2</sup> (Avery and Burkhart 2015). Canopy cover was measured using a densiometer (Model-A, convex) held while facing north. Diameter-at-breast-height (tree diameter at the height of 1.35 m) was measured using a standard diameter tape. I also noted the status of each tree (living or dead). I consider a tree to be living if > 75% of its branches had green needles/leaves.

# 4.2.5 Statistical analysis

For each array and species, the mean diameter-at-breast height, mean stem density, and mean canopy cover were calculated from among all of the measured perch sites, and, separately, from among all of the measured control sites. I found that mean values did not meet the assumptions required for parametric tests (*i.e.*, normality, homogeneity of variance), so, for each species, I compared each microhabitat characteristic between perch sites and randomly determined control sites using paired Wilcoxon signed rank tests ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). Although I conducted three separate tests of the same general hypothesis for each species, I did not apply a correction for the associated inflation of experiment-wise type I error because the small sample sizes involved in the study (n = 12 for Boreal Chickadee; n = 8 for Cape May Warbler) would have led to an unacceptable increase in experiment-wise type II error (Freiman et al. 1978).

### 4.3 Results

Microhabitat was measured at 94 perch sites distributed across 18 array locations (Boreal Chickadee: 63 sites across 12 arrays; Cape May Warbler: 31 sites across 8 arrays), and at a matching set of 94 randomly selected sites from within those same array locations (Table 4.1). In all cases, focal trees were living and were either black spruce (*Picea mariana*), balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*), or white birch (*Betula papyrifera*). Mean DBH was positively correlated with mean canopy cover (Spearman's *rho* = 0.32, *p* = 0.045, n = 40 sites, including 12 Boreal Chickadee perch sites, 8 Cape May Warbler perch sites, and 20 control sites) and negatively correlated with mean stem density (n = 40, Spearman's *rho* = -0.34, *p* = 0.032; Figure 4.2). Although these variables were intercorrelated, their relationships were relatively weak (*i.e.*, Spearman's *rho* < 0.5; Hinkle et al. 2002). Therefore, I analyzed each variable individually for my analysis of microhabitat selectivity rather than using a composite of the three variables.

Boreal Chickadees exhibited microhabitat selectivity (Figure 4.3). Compared to randomly determined sites from within the same array, they vocalized from trees with greater DBH (W = 75, Z = 2.82, p = 0.002, n = 12). Canopy cover (W = 38, Z = -0.08, p = 0.970, n = 12) and stem density (W = 48, Z = 0.71, p = 0.519, n = 12) of call perch sites did not differ significantly from those of randomly determined control sites from within the same array.

Cape May Warblers also demonstrated microhabitat selectivity (Figure 4.4). Canopy cover was significantly greater at song perch sites than at randomly determined control sites (W = 33, Z = 2.10, p = 0.039, n = 8). Stem density (W = 20.5, Z = 0.35, p = 0.773, n = 8) and the DBH of trees (W = 29, Z = 1.54, p = 0.148, n = 8) did not differ significantly between song perch sites and randomly determined control sites.

### **4.4 Discussion**

During the breeding season, Boreal Chickadees and Cape May Warblers preferentially occupy spruce-fir dominated forests (Ficken et al. 1996; Baltz and Latta 1998) and follow key food resources across local and regional scales (Root 1988; Morse 1978). The size and location of individuals' territories within these broad-scale areas are influenced by the availability of trees with soft heartwood for nest cavities for Boreal Chickadees (McLaren 1975), and by the number of forest edges and the distribution of open patches for Cape May Warblers (Baltz and Latta 1998). Here, using microphone array technology, I demonstrated that Boreal Chickadees and Cape May Warblers further select call and song perches within those territories based on microhabitat characteristics of individual trees or of the area immediately surrounding those trees. These microhabitat characteristics differ from the microhabitat characteristics of sites selected at random from within the same general location. Boreal Chickadees selected larger trees than expected by chance, whereas Cape May Warblers selected sites with greater canopy cover than expected by chance.

Boreal Chickadees are a year-round resident of the boreal forest and demonstrate limited dispersal behaviour related to food distribution (Root 1988). Flocks congregate preferentially in mature stands in the winter, but occupy both young and mature forest

stands during the breeding season, with a preference for forests containing spruce and fir tree species (Hadley and Desrochers 2008). However, there is evidence that Boreal Chickadees prefer to feed from larger trees when foraging during the breeding season (Haftorn 1974). Microhabitat selection for nest sites, call perches, and foraging sites has been described for Boreal Chickadees in only a few studies. Ficken et al. (1996) showed that Boreal Chickadee nest sites are most often near the ground in dead tree stumps and rarely found at a height greater than 3 m above the ground. Other studies have shown that, where sympatric, Boreal Chickadee and Black-capped Chickadee (*P. atricapillus*) segregate when foraging during the breeding (Vassallo and Rice 1982) and nonbreeding seasons (Gayk and Lindsay 2012). Vassallo and Rice (1982) demonstrated that Boreal Chickadees fed in the upper and outer portions of trees, independent of tree height, whereas Black-capped Chickadees fed in the lower half and inner portions of trees and utilized a wider variety of tree species (*i.e.*, deciduous and coniferous trees; Vassallo and Rice 1982). Gayk and Lindsay (2012) showed that, during the winter in Michigan, USA, Boreal Chickadees fed exclusively on conifer species and spent significantly more time foraging in the top 3 m of trees, as compared to Black-capped Chickadees.

I found that Boreal Chickadees in this study vocalized from large, living conifers. Given that the "chick-a-dee" call is produced by individuals communicating with mates when separated during foraging, it is likely that these vocalizations were from individuals establishing the location of a mate or advertising a foraging location, rather than from individuals engaged in activities at their nest site. In support of this, Haftorn (1974) noted that Boreal Chickadees during the summer in Alaska selected older trees when feeding

and storing food, and that they mostly ignored trees less than 6 m in height for these activities.

Information on general habitat selection of Cape May Warbler during the breeding season has been collected in Ontario, Canada and Maine, USA, but is lacking for the vast majority of its breeding range, including in Labrador (Baltz and Latta 1998). The species occupies coniferous habitats with spruce (*Picea* sp.) and balsam fir (*Abies balsamea*) of medium- to old-age (50+ years), where spruce budworm infestations tend to occur (Baltz and Latta 1998). In Quebec, Canada, Cape May Warblers preferentially used plantations of sparsely spaced 50+-year-old white spruce (*P. glauca*) with a canopy height of at least 10 m (DesGranges 1980). Microhabitat selection for nest sites, song perches, and foraging sites has also been studied in Cape May Warbler. They forage for invertebrates by gleaning, most often near the upper, outer portion of spruce and fir trees (MacArthur 1958). Nest sites are usually located in conifers in open parts of the forest or near the edge of forest patches (Baltz and Latta 1998). Nests are typically concealed near the trunk near the top of the tree (MacArthur 1958). During the breeding season, males sing at approximately 2 m below the top of the tree (Kendeigh 1947).

I found that Cape May Warblers sang from sites with greater canopy cover than the surrounding general habitat. Previously, I showed that, across 88 sites, Cape May Warblers were more likely to be found in habitats with greater mean canopy cover (Ethier, unpublished; see chapter 3). Since the hypothesized functions of birdsong are to repel competing males and attract and court females (Kroodsma and Byers 1991; Catchpole and Slater 2008), individuals may sing from these locations to conceal their specific location, thereby preventing predation while advertising within a territory. There is some evidence from a field study on passerines that individuals increase song output when perched in concealed locations, likely limiting exposure to surprise attacks by predators and reducing predation risk (Campos et al. 2009). Alternatively, males may be signalling an appropriate location for a nest site that is well-concealed by the canopy, since Cape May Warblers are known to nest in the well-concealed, densely-foliated upper portions of spruce and fir trees (Baltz and Latta 1998).

This study is an initial, but important, step in using microphone arrays to demonstrate the microhabitat characteristics preferred by free-living birds in general, and by Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler in particular. Based on my findings, conserving mature spruce-fir dominated forest would likely benefit these species, since Boreal Chickadees vocalize preferentially from trees with greater DBH, and Cape May Warblers vocalize preferentially from trees with greater canopy cover. However, it is also important to consider that the microhabitat selected in one context (*e.g.*, foraging) may differ from the microhabitat selected in another context (*e.g.*, nesting). Future research on these species should also include additional aspects of bird ecology, including species interactions (Campomizzi et al. 2008) and sources of disturbance (Zabala et al. 2012), which are known to impact habitat and microhabitat preferences. It is only when considering all aspects of a species' breeding ecology that sound conservation practices can be made.

Research on common species, such as Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler, is necessary, as many rare species were once abundant. Conservation organizations, such as Partners in Flight, highlight the importance of studying and surveying all species in order to keep "common birds common," since prevention is more feasible and affordable than recovery (Rosenberg et al. 2016). I identified microhabitat preferences in a boreal forest for two common avian species in steep decline. Many recovery strategies focus on identifying and conserving critical habitat. For example, recovery strategies for Canada Warbler, *Cardellina canadensis*, and Prothonotary Warbler, *Protonotaria citrea*, both identify as a priority the need to determine critical habitat (Environment Canada 2011, 2016). My study suggests that not all parts of a habitat are used equally, and that conservation efforts may be improved by also considering critical microhabitat within a species' general habitat.

	# of different perches		
Array Code	Boreal Chickadee	Cape May Warbler	
A003	7	0	
A004	10	0	
A005	6	0	
A006	4	0	
A008	9	0	
A014	4	5	
A015	8	0	
A033	1	5	
A043	4	0	
A044	5	0	
A063	3	0	
A067	5	0	
A011	0	1	
A012	0	1	
A034	0	5	
A037	0	2	
A038	0	3	
A040	0	9	
Total	63	31	

**Table 4.1:** The number of Boreal Chickadee call perches and Cape May Warbler song perches within each microphone array (n = 18). Different perches for a given species were separated by at least 1 m.



**Figure 4.1:** Spectrograms of the vocalizations used to detect and localize Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler. I used a microphone array to record and localize these vocalizations so that I could characterize the microhabitat characteristics associated with vocalization perch sites. (A) The "chick-a-dee" call of the Boreal Chickadee. (B) The song of the Cape May Warbler, which is described as 3 to 5 "tseet" notes delivered with rising inflection (Baltz and Latta 1998). Spectrograms were generated with a 512-point fast Fourier transform, 90% overlap, and Hamming window. Temporal resolution is 2.1 ms, frequency resolution is 46.9 Hz, and the grayscale represents an amplitude range of 35 dB.



**Figure 4.2:** Diagnostic plots of 3 microhabitat variables associated with call and song perch sites used by Boreal Chickadees (n = 12 array locations) and Cape May Warblers (n = 8 array locations). Shown on the diagonal (top-bottom) are the mean diameter at breast height (cm), mean canopy cover (%), and mean stem density (stems/m<sup>2</sup>). Above the diagonal are the Spearman correlation coefficients (rho) and associated p-values of pairwise comparisons of variables. Below the diagonal are scatterplots of pairwise comparisons of variables. Each point is an average of up to 12 perch sites at a given array for a given species, or an average of the same number of randomly determined control sites selected for that species from that same array.



**Figure 4.3:** Pair-wise comparisons of the microhabitat of call perch sites and randomly determined control sites for Boreal Chickadee (n = 12 array locations). Shown are mean diameter at breast height (top), mean canopy cover (middle), and mean stem density (bottom). Each point is an average of up to 12 sites. Asterisks indicate a statistically significant difference between the observed perch sites and randomly determined control sites.



**Figure 4.4:** Pair-wise comparisons of the microhabitat of song perch sites and randomly determined control sites for Cape May Warbler (n = 8 array locations). Shown are mean diameter at breast height (top), mean canopy cover (middle), and mean stem density (bottom). Each point is an average of up to 12 sites. Asterisks indicate a statistically significant difference between the observed perch sites and randomly determined control sites.

## References

- Avery TE, Burkhart HE. 2015. Forest measurements, fifth edition. Long Grove, IL: Waveland Press.
- Baltz ME, Latta SC. 1998. Cape May Warbler (*Setophaga tigrina*). In: Poole AF, Gill FB, editors. The Birds of North America. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Barker NKS, Dabelsteen T, Mennill DJ. 2009. Degradation of male and female rufousand-white wren songs in a tropical forest: effects of sex, perch height, and habitat. Behaviour 146:1093-1122.
- Bates ME, Cropp BF, Gonchar M, Knowles J, Simmons JA, Simmons AM. 2010. Spatial location influences vocal interactions in bullfrog choruses. J Acoust Soc Am. 127:2664-2677.
- Bibby CJ, Burgess N, Hill D, Mustoe S. 2000. Bird census techniques, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Block WM, Brennan, LA. 1993. The habitat concept in ornithology: theory and application. Current Ornithol.11:35-91.
- Blumstein DT, Mennill DJ, Clemins P, Girod L, Yao K, Patricelli G, Deppe JL, Krakauer AH, Clark C, Cortopassi KA, Hanser SF, McCowan B, Ali AM, Kirschel ANG. 2011. Acoustic monitoring in terrestrial environments using microphone arrays: applications, technological considerations and prospectus. J Appl Ecol. 48:758-767.
- Brennan LA. 2007. Ecology and behavior of chickadees and titmice: an integrated approach. Auk 124:1461-1463.
- Brown RT, Agee JK, Franklin JF. 2004. Forest restoration and fire principles in the context of place. Conserv Biol. 18:903-912.
- Butcher G. 2007. Audubon common birds in decline: a state of birds report summer 2007. Audubon Magazine. July-August 2007.
- Campomizzi AJ, Butcher JA, Farrell SL, Snelgrove AG, Collier BA, Gutzwiller KJ, Morrison MI, Wilkins RN. 2008. Conspecific attraction is a missing component in wildlife habitat modeling. J Wildl Manage. 72:331-336.
- Campos DP, Bander LA, Raksi A, Blumstein DT. 2009. Perch exposure and predation risk: a comparative study in passerines. Acta Ethol. 12:93-98.

- Catchpole CK, Slater PJB. 2008. Bird song: biological themes and variations. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- DesGranges JL. 1980. Avian community structure of six forest stands in La Mauricie National Park, Quebec. Can Wildl Serv Occas Paper Ser. 41.
- Downes C, Blancher P, Collins B. 2011. Landbird trends in Canada, 1968-2006. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Technical Thematic Report No. 12. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Environment Canada. 2011. Recovery strategy for the Prothonotary Warbler (*Protonotaria citrea*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Ottawa, ON: Environment Canada.
- Environment Canada. 2016. Recovery strategy for the Canada Warbler (*Cardellina canadensis*) in Canada. Species at Risk Act Recovery Strategy Series. Ottawa, ON: Environment Canada.
- Ficken MS, McLearen MA, Hailman JP. 1996. Boreal chickadee (*Poecile hudsonicus*). In: In. Poole AF, Gill FB, editors. The Birds of North America. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Freiman JA, Chalmers TC, Smith Jr H, Kuebler RR. 1978. The importance of beta, the type II error and sample size in the design and interpretation of the randomized control trial. N Engl J Med. 299: 690-694.
- Gayk ZG, Lindsay AR. 2012. Winter microhabitat foraging preferences of sympatric boreal and black-capped chickadees in Michigan's Upper Pennisula. Wilson J Ornithol. 124:820-824.
- Hadley A, Desrochers A. 2008. Response of wintering boreal chickadees (*Poecile hudsonica*) to forest edges: does weather matter? Auk 125:30-38.
- Haftorn S. 1974. Storage of surplus food by the Boreal Chickadee *Parus hudsonicus* in Alaska, with some records on the Mountain Chickadee *Parus gambeli* in Colorado. Ornis Scand. 5:145-161.
- Hansbauer MM, Végvári Z, Storch I, Borntraeger R, Hettich U, Pimentel RG, Metzger JP. 2010. Microhabitat selection of three forest understory birds in the Brazilian Atlantic Rainforest. Biotropica 42:355-362.
- Hinkle DE, Wiersma W, Jurs SG. 2002. Applied Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences, 5th ed. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

- Hutto RL. 1985. Habitat selection by nonbreeding migratory land birds. In: Cody ML, editor. In: Cody ML, editor. Habitat selection in birds. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Johnson DH. 1980. The comparison of use and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65-71.
- Jones J. 2001. Habitat selection studies in avian ecology: a critical review. Auk 118:557-562.
- Kendeigh SC. 1947. Bird population studies in the coniferous forest biome during a spruce budworm outbreak. Ontario Depart Lands and For Biol Bull. 1:1-100.
- Kilgore MA, Blinn CR. 2004. Policy tools to encourage the application of sustainable time harvesting practices in the United States and Canada. Forest Policy Econ. 6:111-127.
- Kroodsma DE, Byers BE. 1991. The function(s) of bird song. Am Zool 31:318-328.
- Lee DC, Marsden SJ. 2008. Adjusting count period strategies to improve the accuracy of forest bird abundance estimates from point transect distance sampling surveys. Ibis 150:315-325.
- MacArthur RH. 1958. Population ecology of some warblers of northeastern coniferous forest. Ecology 39:599-619.
- Martin TE, Geupel GR. 1993. Nest-monitoring plots: methods for locating nests and monitoring success. J Field Ornithol. 64:507–519.
- McDermott ME, Wood PB, Miller GW, Simpson BT. 2011. Predicting breeding bird occurrence by stand- and microhabitat-scale features in even-aged stands in the Central Appalachians. Forest Ecol Manage. 261:373-380.
- McGarigal K, Wan HY, Zeller KA, Timm BC, Cushman SA. 2016. Multi-scale habitat selection modeling: a review and outlook. Landscape Ecol. 31:1161-1175.
- McLaren MA. 1975. Breeding biology of the Boreal Chickadee. Wilson Bull. 87:344-354.
- McLaren MA. 1976. Vocalizations of the Boreal Chickadee. Auk 93:451-463.
- Mech LD, Barber SM. 2002. A critique of wildlife radio-tracking and its use in national parks: a report to the U.S. National Park Service. Biological Resource Management Division, U.S. National Park Service, Fort Collins, CO.

- Mennill DJ, Vehrencamp SL. 2008. Context-dependent functions of avian duets revealed through microphone array recordings and multispeaker playback. Curr Biol. 18:1314-1319.
- Mennill DJ, Battiston M, Wilson DR, Foote JR, Doucet SM. 2012. Field test of an affordable, portable, wireless microphone array for spatial monitoring of animal ecology and behaviour. Methods Ecol Evol. 3:704-712.
- Mennill DJ, Burt JM, Fristrup KM, Vehrencamp SL. 2006. Accuracy of an acoustic location system for monitoring the position of duetting songbirds in tropical forest. J Acoust Soc Am. 119:2832-2839.
- Morse DH. 1978. Populations of Bay-breasted Warblers during an outbreak of the spruce budworm. Wilson Bull. 90:404-413.
- NABCI, North American Bird Conservation Initiative. 2014. The State of the Birds 2014 Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Interior.
- Nemes CE, Islam K. 2017. Breeding season microhabitat use by Cerulean Warbler (*Setophaga cerulea*) in an experimentally-managed forest. Forest Ecol Manage 387:52-63.
- Patricelli GL, Krakauer AH. 2010. Tactical allocation of effort among multiple signals in sage grouse: an experiment with a robotic female. Behav Ecol. 21:97-106.
- Patten MA, Wolfe DH, Shochat E, Sherrod SK. 2005. Habitat fragmentation, rapid evolution and population persistence. Evol Eco Res. 7:235-249.
- Riffell S, Verschuyl J, Miller D, Wigley TB. 2011. Biofuel harvest, coarse woody debris, and biodiversity a meta-analysis. Forest Ecol Manage 261:878-887.
- Root TR. 1988. Atlas of wintering North American birds: an analysis of Christmas Bird Count data. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Rosenberg KV, Kennedy JA, Dettmers R, Ford RP, Reynolds D, Alexander JD,
  Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Bogart RE, Butcher GS, Camfield AF, Couturier A,
  Demarest DW, Easton WE, Giocomo JJ, Keller RH, Mini AE, Panjabi AO,
  Pashley DN, Rich TD, Ruth JM, Stabins H, Stanton J, Will T. 2016. Partners in
  Flight Landbird Conservation Plan: 2016 Revision for Canada and Continental
  United States. Partners in Flight Science Committee.
- Sauer JR, Niven DK, Hines JE, Ziolkowski Jr DJ, Pardieck KL, Fallon JE, Link WA. 2017. The North American Breeding Bird Survey, Results and Analysis 1966 -2015. Version 2.07.2017 USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD.

- Stratford JA, Stouffer PC. 2013. Microhabitat associations of terrestrial insectivorous birds in Amazonian rainforest and second-growth forests. J Field Ornithol. 84:1-12.
- Vassallo MI, Rice JC. 1982. Ecological release and ecological flexibility in habitat use and foraging of an insular avifauna. Wilson Bull. 94:139-155.
- Wilson DR, Battiston M, Brzustowski J, Mennill DJ. 2014. Sound Finder: a new software approach for localizing animals recorded with a microphone array. Bioacoustics 23:99-112.
- Wilson DR, Mennill DJ. 2011. Duty cycle, not signal structure, explains conspecific and heterospecific responses to calls of Black-capped Chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*). Behav Ecol. 22:784-790.
- Wilson RR, Cooper RJ. 1998. Breeding biology of Acadian flycatcher in a bottomland hardwood forest. Wilson Bull. 110:226-232.
- Wilson SJ, Bayne EM. 2018. Use of an acoustic location system to understand how presence of conspecifics and canopy cover influence Ovenbird (*Seiurus aurocapilla*) space use near reclaimed wellsites in the boreal forest of Alberta. Avian Conserv Ecol. 13:4.
- Wölfel M, McDonough J. 2009. Distant speech recognition. West Sussex: Wiley.
- Zabala J, Zuberogoitia I, Belamendia G, Arizaga J. 2012. Micro-habitat use by Bramblings *Fringilla montifringilla* within a winter roosting site: influence of microclimate and human disturbance. Acta Ornithol. 47:179-184.

### **CHAPTER 5: Concluding discussion**

## 5.1 Microphone arrays and acoustic monitoring

Microphone arrays are a powerful tool for studying animal behaviour and spatial ecology in a variety of taxa, including birds (Mennill et al. 2006; Mennill and Vehrencamp 2008; Paticelli and Krakauer 2010), amphibians (Bates et al. 2010), and mammals (Spillman et al. 2015). With acoustic recorders becoming more readily available and affordable, the applications for microphone arrays are rapidly expanding. Recently, microphone arrays have been used in innovative ways to study the impact of anthropogenic disturbance and habitat use (Shonfield and Bayne 2017a, 2017b; Yip et al. 2017). Previous studies have also shown that microphone arrays are a valuable tool for acoustic monitoring of avian communities. Shonfield and Bayne (2017b) recently reviewed several studies comparing human observers to acoustic recorders. They concluded that acoustic recorders often performed equal to or better than point counts when estimating avian species richness, abundance, and composition.

I used the cable-free microphone array technology described by Mennill et al. (2012). This technique enables researchers to record thousands of hours of audio and millions of vocalizations from several locations within the environment, and to localize the vocalizing individuals in 2- and 3-dimensional space. Currently, there are no commercially available software solutions for performing localizations on this volume of data. The localization workflow described in this thesis will thus allow future researchers to take full advantage of the recent advances in microphone array hardware. I have also

demonstrated how microphone arrays can be used to study avian community parameters (*i.e.*, species richness, composition, presence) and their relationships to habitat and microhabitat characteristics, with the ultimate goal of building bird-habitat models. Finally, I have provided a permanent archive of the audio recordings, which will be submitted to the Memorial University Library's digital repository. This archive will contain millions of acoustic signals from birds, but also from mammals, insects, and frogs, and will thus provide an important foundation for future research on conservation and spatial ecology. One such avenue would be to explore the influence of habitat characteristics on the density of each bird species. By localizing vocalizations and calculating the area over which they were detected, one can calculate the vocalization density of each species and use it as a proxy for population density, as in Marques et al. (2013).

### 5.2 Avian conservation, habitat relationships, and microhabitat selection

With the population declines and loss of biodiversity among North American landbirds over the last 40 years, both conservation organizations and government agencies have recognized the need for a greater understanding of the behaviour and ecology of birds (Downes et al. 2011; Rosenberg et al. 2016; COSEWIC 2018). In fact, the tri-national North American bird conservation initiative, Partners in Flight, has highlighted the importance of researching and monitoring all bird species, since even common species, such as Boreal Chickadee and Cape May Warbler, have shown steep population declines (Rosenberg et al. 2016; Sauer et al. 2017). Directly managing wildlife is challenging, and therefore it is often the habitat, or land, in which species reside that is

managed and conserved (Dale et al. 2000). In order for managers to make sound decisions, associations between avian communities and habitat must be established.

Several factors influence the distribution of birds in their environment, including the physical structure and floristics of the habitat (Rotenberry 1985; Lee and Rotenberry 2005), weather variables (Şekercioğlu et al. 2012; Grima et al. 2017), and community interactions (Johnson 1980; Morrison et al. 2006). The relative importance of each of these factors is contested and often depends on the spatial scale considered and the organism(s) being studied (Morrison et al. 2006).

I have shown that an avian community within the boreal forest of Labrador, Canada is influenced by variation in the physical structure and floristics of the habitat, as well as by mean daily temperature. Despite the habitat being relatively homogeneous, differences in avian species richness and composition were observed among three forest types. While species richness was observed to be higher in the birch/poplar type, I would caution against conserving this habitat at the expense of others, as some species (*e.g.*, Orange-crowned Warbler) displayed a preference (increased presence/decreased absence) for other types. Additionally, the influences of physical structure and floristics on presence were species-specific, which is consistent with previous studies in the boreal forest (Schmiegelow and Mönkkönen 2002; Lemaître et al. 2012). Finally, my results from studying the microhabitat selection of Boreal Chickadees and Cape May Warblers suggest that not all parts of a habitat are used equally. Therefore, I recommend that a variety of broad habitat types and forest types be conserved, as no one habitat variable

was found to be a definitive predictor of species richness or presence. Furthermore, I recommend that information about the microhabitat features (*e.g.*, trees, dead logs) used for nesting, foraging, and singing should be ascertained and incorporated into conservation and management strategies. For example, there is evidence in Cerulean Warblers (*Setophaga cerulea*) that microhabitat selected for singing is as important as nesting sites for successful reproduction (*i.e.*, Barg et al. 2006).

## 5.3 Scope and limitations

When considering the results of this study, it is important to consider that the research was conducted on an avian community during two consecutive avian breeding seasons (May-July) within a spruce/fir-dominated ecosystem with a recent history of disturbance, including natural forest fires and logging (Simon and Schwab 2005). There is substantial evidence to suggest that bird-habitat models perform poorly when applied beyond the scope in which they were developed (Block and Brennan 1993; Tuanmu et al. 2011). However, this does not mean that the results are inconsequential. Bird-habitat relationships are important for making local land-use decisions and are often necessary for establishing conservation efforts to protect habitat critical for survival and reproduction (Morrison et al. 2006). Thus, results of this study are intended to be used primarily by local land and resource managers.

Models correlating habitat characteristics to patterns of species-specific presence could only be made for those species that were sufficiently abundant (*i.e.*, found in  $\geq 10\%$ of microphone array locations). It also is possible that the relatively small number of

perch sites in the microhabitat analysis resulted in a failure to detect small effects. Small sample sizes are a common challenge in conservation-oriented studies, since the species being conserved tend to be quite rare.

# **5.4 Conclusion**

Microphone arrays have proven to be a feasible method for obtaining habitat and microhabitat associations of boreal birds. Even when studying avian communities at the local scale in landscapes where the habitat is relatively homogeneous, there is variation in species richness and presence. Additionally, individuals appear to be selective of the microhabitat features used within the general habitat in which they reside. I encourage researchers to use the new procedures for processing acoustic data that I have outlined in this thesis, and to continue developing the overall approach. As stated by Shonfield and Bayne (2017b), it may be pertinent to combine human observer (*i.e.*, point counts) and acoustic monitoring techniques to get a better understanding of whether the two methods complement or contradict each other. Additional research should also be conducted to support the initial observations of this study and to build a greater understanding of spatial ecology and habitat use of birds.

## **5.5 References**

- Barg JJ, Aiama DM, Jones J, Robertson RJ. Within-territory habitat use and microhabitat selection by male Cerulean Warblers (*Dendroica cerulean*). Auk 123:795-806.
- Bates ME, Cropp BF, Gonchar M, Knowles J, Simmons JA, Simmons AM. 2010. Spatial location influences vocal interactions in bullfrog choruses. J Acoust Soc Am. 127:2664-2677.
- Block WM, Brennan, LA. 1993. The habitat concept in ornithology: theory and application. Current Ornithol.11:35-91.
- COSEWIC. 2018. Committee on the Status of Wildlife in Canada Species at Risk Public Registry.
- Dale VH, Brown S, Haeuber RA, Hobbs NT, Huntly N, Naiman RJ, Riebsame WE, Turner MG, Valone TJ. 2000. Ecological principles and guidelines for managing the use of land. Ecol Appl. 10:639-670.
- Downes C, Blancher P, Collins B. 2011. Landbird trends in Canada, 1968-2006. Canadian Biodiversity: Ecosystem Status and Trends 2010, Technical Thematic Report No. 12. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Councils of Resource Ministers.
- Grima Z, Mamo Y, Mengesha G, Verma A, Asfaw T. 2017. Seasonal abundance and habitat use of bird species in and around Wondo Genet Forest in south-central Ethiopia. Ecol Evol.7:3397-3405.
- Johnson DH. 1980. The comparison of usage and availability measurements for evaluating resource preference. Ecology 61:65–71.
- Lee P, Rotenberry J. 2005. Relationships between bird species and tree species assemblages in forested habitats of eastern North America. J Biogeogr. 32:1139-1150.
- Lemaître J, Darveau M, Zhao Q, Fortin D. 2012. Multiscale assessment of the influence of habitat structure and composition on bird assemblages in boreal forest. Biodiversity Conserv. 21:3355-3368.
- Marques TA, Thomas L, Martin SW, Mellinger DK, Ward JA, Moretti DJ, Harris D, Tyack PL. 2013. Estimating animal population density using passive acoustics. Biol Rev. 88:287-309.
- Mennill DJ, Vehrencamp SL. 2008. Context-dependent functions of avian duets revealed through microphone array recordings and multispeaker playback. Curr Biol. 18:1314-1319.

- Mennill DJ, Battiston M, Wilson DR, Foote JR, Doucet SM. 2012. Field test of an affordable, portable, wireless microphone array for spatial monitoring of animal ecology and behaviour. Methods Ecol Evol. 3:704-712.
- Mennill DJ, Burt JM, Fristrup KM, Vehrencamp SL. 2006. Accuracy of an acoustic location system for monitoring the position of duetting songbirds in tropical forest. J Acoust Soc Am. 119:2832-2839.
- Morrison ML, Marcot B, Mannan W. 2006. Wildlife-habitat relationships: concepts and applications. 3rd Edition. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Patricelli GL, Krakauer AH. 2010. Tactical allocation of effort among multiple signals in sage grouse: an experiment with a robotic female. Behav Ecol. 21:97-106.
- Rosenberg KV, Kennedy JA, Dettmers R, Ford RP, Reynolds D, Alexander JD,
  Beardmore CJ, Blancher PJ, Bogart RE, Butcher GS, Camfield AF, Couturier A,
  Demarest DW, Easton WE, Giocomo JJ, Keller RH, Mini AE, Panjabi AO,
  Pashley DN, Rich TD, Ruth JM, Stabins H, Stanton J, Will T. 2016. Partners in
  Flight Landbird Conservation Plan: 2016 Revision for Canada and Continental
  United States. Partners in Flight Science Committee.
- Rotenberry JT. 1985. The role of habitat in avian community composition: physiognomy or floristics? Oecologia 67:213–217.
- Sauer JR, Niven DK, Hines JE, Ziolkowski Jr DJ, Pardieck KL, Fallon JE, Link WA. 2017. The North American Breeding Bird Survey, Results and Analysis 1966 -2015. Version 2.07.2017 USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD.
- Schmiegelow FKA, Mönkkönen M (2002) Habitat loss and fragmentation in dynamic landscapes: avian perspectives from the boreal forest. Ecol Appl. 12:375–389.
- Şekercioğlu CH, Primack RB, Wormworth J. 2012. The effects of climate change on tropical birds. Biol Conserv. 148:1-18.
- Shonfield J, Bayne EM. 2017a. The effect of industrial noise on owl occupancy in the boreal forest at multiple spatial scales. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:13.
- Shonfield J, Bayne EM. 2017b. Autonomous recording units in avian ecology research: current use and future applications. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:14.
- Simon NPP, Schwab FE. 2005. The response of conifer and broad-leaved trees and shrubs to the wildfire and clearcut logging in the boreal forests of central Labrador. Northern J Appl Forestry 22:35-41.

- Spillman B, van Noordwijk MA, Willems EP, Setia TM, Wipfli U, van Schaik CP. 2015. Validation of an acoustic location system to monitor Bornean orangutan (*Pongo pygmaeus wurmbii*) long calls. Am J Primatol. 77:767-776.
- Tuanmu MN, Vina A, Roloff GJ, Liu W, Ouyang Z, Zhang H, Liu J. 2011. Temporal transferability of wildlife habitat models: implications for habitat monitoring. J Biogeogr. 38:1510-1523.
- Yip DA, Leston L, Bayne EM, Solymos P, Grover A. 2017. Experimentally derived detection distance from audio recordings and human observers enable integrated analysis of point count data. Avian Conserv Ecol. 12:11

**Appendix 1:** Birds of Newfoundland and Labrador that are currently listed as species at risk according to Newfoundland and Labrador Fisheries and Land Resources (NLFLR, 2017). Species detected in this study are in bold.

Scientific Name	Common Name	Listed Status	Year of Listing
Bucephala islandica	Barrow's Goldeneye	Vulnerable	2000
Dolichonyx oryzivorus	Bobolink	Vulnerable	2015
Chaetura pelagica	Chimney Shift	Threatened	2007
Chordeiles minor	Common Nighthawk	Threatened	2007
Numenius borealis	Eskimo Curlew	Endangered	2000
Histrionicus histrionicus	Harlequin Duck	Vulnerable	2001
Pagophila eburnean	Ivory Duck	Endangered	2006
Catharus minimus	Gray-cheeked Thrush	Vulnerable	2005
Contous cooperi	Olive-sided Flycatcher	Threatened	2009
Falco peregrinus	Peregrine Falcon	Vulnerable	2007
Charadrius melodus melodus	Piping Plover	Endangered	2000
Loxia curvirostra percna	Red Crossbill	Endangered	2004
Calidris canutus rufa	Red Knot	Endangered	2007
Euphagus carolinus	Rusty Blackbird	Vulnerable	2007
Asio flammeus	Short-eared Owl	Vulnerable	2008

NLFLR, Newfoundland and Labrador Fisheries and Land Resources. 2017. Birds. Retrieved from: http://www.flr.gov.nl.ca/wildlife/all\_species/birds.html. Accessed 24 November 2017.

Scientific Name	Common Name	Alpha Code
Empidonax alnorum	Alder Elycatcher	ALFL
Corvus brachyrhynchos	American Crow	AMCR
Setonhaga ruticilla	American Redstart	AMRE
Turdus migratorius	American Robin	AMRO
Setonhaga striata	Blackpoll Warbler	BLPW
Setophaga virens	Black-throated Green Warbler	BTNW
Bombycilla garrulus	Bohemian Waxwing	BOWA
Poecile hudsonicus	Boreal Chickadee	BOCH
Certhia americana	Brown Creeper	BRCR
Branta canadensis	Canada Goose	CANG
Setophaga tigrina	Cape May Warbler	CMWA
Gavia immer	Common Loon	COLO
Chordeiles minor	Common Nighthawk	CONI
Corvus corax	Common Raven	CORA
Junco hvemalis	Dark-eved Junco	DEJU
Passerella iliaca	Fox Sparrow	FOSP
Perisoreus canadensis	Grev Jav	GRAJ
Catharus guttatus	Hermit Thrush	HETH
Melospiza lincolnii	Lincoln's Sparrow	LISP
Setophaga magnolia	Magnolia Warbler	MAWA
Parkesia noveboracensis	Northern Waterthrush	NOWA
Oreothlypis celata	Orange-crowned Warbler	OCWA
Pinicola enucleator	Pine Grosbeak	PIGR
Spinus pinus	Pine Siskin	PISI
Sitta canadensis	Red-breasted Nuthatch	RBNU
Regulus calendula	Ruby-crowned Kinglet	RCKI
Catharus ustulatus	Swainson's Thrush	SWTH
Oreothlypis peregrina	Tennessee Warbler	TEWA
Zonotrichia albicollis	White-throated Sparrow	WTSP
Troglodytes hiemalis	Winter Wren	WIWR
Empidonax flaviventris	Yellow-bellied Flycatcher	YBFL
Setophaga coronata	Yellow-rumped Warbler	YRWA

**Appendix 2:** Bird species detected in this study, including scientific and common names and 4-letter alpha codes. Naming conventions follow the 58<sup>th</sup> supplement of the American Ornithological Society's checklist of North American birds (Chesser et al. 2017).

Chesser RT, Burns KJ, Cicero C, Dunn JL, Kratter AW, Lovette IJ, Rasmussen PC, Remsen Jr. JV, Stotz DF, Winger BM, Winker K. 2018. Check-list of North American Birds (online). American Ornithological Society. checklist.aou.org/taxa